
Environment Board

Date: Thursday 25 June 2020

Time: 10.30 am Public meeting Yes

Venue: This meeting will be held virtually via Microsoft Teams.
Click here to view the meeting.

Membership
Councillor Ian Courts (Chair) Portfolio Lead for Environment, Energy & HS2
Councillor Oliver Butler Walsall Metropolitan Borough Council
Councillor Maria Crompton Sandwell Metropolitan Borough Council
Councillor Ian Kettle Dudley Metropolitan Borough Council
Councillor Andy Mackiewicz Solihull Metropolitan Borough Council
Councillor Barbara McGarrity City of Wolverhampton Council
Councillor Jim O'Boyle Coventry City Council
Councillor Waseem Zaffar Birmingham City Council

Quorum for this meeting shall be the Portfolio Lead for the Environment, Energy & HS2 and at 
least three other members.

If you have any queries about this meeting, please contact:

Contact Dan Essex, Governance Services Manager
Telephone (0121) 214 7505
Email dan.essex@wmca.org.uk

Public Document Pack

https://teams.microsoft.com/l/meetup-join/19%3ameeting_YjYxYWVlNTItZTU0Zi00NTA3LWE4NmQtYTA3MmRjM2RlOWZk%40thread.v2/0?context=%7b%22Tid%22%3a%220859eb45-f1ae-4e0a-9efa-e6d66bbb672f%22%2c%22Oid%22%3a%22aa0da4d7-525c-43fa-8f07-726551c8d8c1%22%7d


Agenda
Page 2 of 2

AGENDA
No. Item Presenting Pages

1.  Apologies for Absence Chair None

2.  Declarations of Interest
Members are reminded of the need to declare 
any disclosable pecuniary interests they have in 
an item being discussed during the course of the 
meeting. In addition, the receipt of any gift or 
hospitality should be declared where the value of 
it was thought to have exceeded £25 (gifts) or 
£40 (hospitality).

Chair None

3.  Chair's Remarks (if any) Chair None

4.  Minutes - 27 February 2020 Chair 1 - 4

5.  WM2041: A Programme for Implementing an 
Environmental Recovery

Jackie Homan 5 - 48

6.  Energy Transition Cheryl Hiles 49 - 58

7.  Funding Opportunities: Clean Growth Innovation 
Challenge and Community Green Grants

Ed Cox / Jackie 
Homan

Verbal Report

8.  WM2041: Introduction to Circular Economy 
Project

Richard Rees 59 - 64

9.  Active Travel Claire Williams Verbal Report

10.  WM2041 - Five Year Plans Jackie Homan 65 - 72

11.  Environment Board Terms of Reference Jodie Townsend 73 - 78

12.  West Midlands National Park Memorandum of 
Understanding

Jackie Homan To Follow



Environment Board

Thursday 27 February 2020 at 10.00 am

Minutes

Present
Councillor Ian Courts (Chair) Portfolio Lead for Environment, Energy & 

HS2
Councillor Ian Kettle Dudley Metropolitan Borough Council
Councillor Andy Mackiewicz Solihull Metropolitan Borough Council
Councillor Barbara McGarrity City of Wolverhampton Council
Councillor Waseem Zaffar Birmingham City Council

In attendance
Councillor Peter Fowler Overview & Scrutiny Committee

Item
No.

Title

1.  Apologies for Absence
An apology for absence was received from Councillor Oliver Butler (Walsall).

2.  Chair's Remarks
(a) United Nations Climate Change Conference 2020

The Chair noted that the COP26 conference was due to be held in 
Glasgow in November and was hopeful that the WMCA would be 
represented at the event to showcase the work of the West Midlands 
in helping to achieve local, regional and national CO2 emission 
targets.

(b) Environment Bill 2020
The Chair reported that the Environment Bill 2020 was due to receive 
its second reading in the House of Commons shortly. He expected a 
report to be considered at a future meeting would consider the 
implications of this legislation and how it might impact on the work of 
the board. 

3.  Minutes - 24 October 2019
The minutes of the meeting held on 24 October 2019 were agreed as a 
correct record.

Page 1

Agenda Item 4



4.  #WM2041 - Progress on Engagement and Dissemination
The board considered a report from the Head of Environment providing an 
update on the consultations, actions and next steps in relation to the 
#WM2041 climate change action plan.

Following its launch on 23 January, a public consultation was engaging 
businesses, networks and individuals to ensure the action plan was as robust 
and comprehensive as it was able to make it. A two-week social media 
campaign was also being undertaken, along with in-depth focus group work 
with smaller groups.

Early responses from the consultation had indicated that people felt reducing 
road traffic should be the top priority to tackle climate change, and there was 
a strong desire for regional and local government to take a lead on this. 
Councillor Waseem Zafar suggested that this showed the importance of local 
authorities working together in a co-ordinated manner, and the Head of 
Environment confirmed that a new Low Carbon Officers Group had been 
established across the region for this purpose.

The Chair indicated that he would like to see the region have a strong 
presence at the United Nations Climate Change Conference being held in 
November in Glasgow to demonstrate what the West Midlands was doing to 
tackle climate change and to provide the leadership to encourage others to 
make changes.

Resolved:

(1) The update on the #WM2041 climate change action plan be noted.

(2) The follow-on work around citizen engagement and investment case 
be noted.

5.  HS2 - Environment and Climate Change Elements
The board considered a report from the Head of Environment on the 
opportunities to collaborate with large infrastructure projects that were 
coming to the region to support the delivery of these projects. The board also 
received a presentation from Peter Miller, Environment & Town Planning 
Director, HS2 Ltd on the role HS2 could play in realising cleaner and greener 
places for people to live in and wildlife to thrive.

HS2 was meeting with stakeholder groups along the route to help deliver 
additional environmental benefits. Across the WMCA area, mitigation works 
had already been completed and included 19 habitat creation sites, four bat 
houses, 40 ponds, and over 77,000 trees planted. A £40m Community 
Environment Fund was available, with £7.5m for the West Midlands area to 
help support environmental projects.

Page 2



Resolved:

(1) The Environment & Town Planning Director, HS2 Ltd and the Head of 
Environment, HS2 Ltd be thanked for their informative presentation on 
HS2’s sustainability plans.

6.  Ideas and Initiatives
The board discussed a number of different subjects it would wish to consider 
at its future meetings. The Chair stressed the value of a number of ‘quick 
win’ projects that demonstrated how progress could be made and 
encouraged further thought in this regard. Members also considered 
housing-related matters to be a key consideration, including the role the use 
of photovoltaic tiles on roofs.

7.  Date of Next Meeting
Thursday 25 June 2020 at 10.00am

The meeting ended at 12.05 pm.

Page 3



This page is intentionally left blank



Environment Board
Date 25 June 2020

Report title WM2041: A Programme for Implementing an 
Environmental Recovery

Portfolio Lead Councillor Ian Courts - Environment, Energy & 
HS2

Accountable Chief
Executive

Deborah Cadman, West Midlands Combined 
Authority
email: deborah.cadman@wmca.org.uk
tel: (0121) 214 7200

Accountable
Employee

Ed Cox, Director of Public Service Reform
email: ed.cox@wmca.org.uk
tel: 07788 224179

Jackie Homan, Head of Environment
email: jacqueline.homan@wmca.org.uk
tel: 07584 449339

Recommendation(s) for action or decision:

The Environment Board is recommended to:

(1) Note the next steps for the delivery of WM2041, as outlined in the Appendix to this 
report and signed off by the WMCA Board on 5 June 2020.

(2) Note that WMCA Board agreed the Environment Board should take over the 
decision-making and overview of progress on work on WM2041 (see Paragraph 
2.14).

Page 5

Agenda Item 5



1. Purpose

1.1 This paper outlines the feedback that was received from the consultation on the WM2041 
plan, as well as the next steps that we recommend should be taken in order to progress 
regional work responding to the climate emergency. Since the consultation the COVID-
19 crisis, and the lockdown in particular, has demonstrated to many people some of the 
environmental benefits that could be experienced in a lower carbon economy and the 
economic opportunities that might exist in the region if we plan now for clean, green 
recovery. The paper sets out a programme of short, medium and long-term priorities 
focusing on how this can be achieved, supported by the findings from the WM2041 
consultation process.

2. Background

2.1 In June 2019, WMCA declared a climate emergency. In July 2019, the CA Board received 
a paper from the Tyndall Centre outlining the trajectory that would be necessary in order 
to reach net zero carbon emissions by 2041. This work includes two interim carbon 
budgets of 36% reduction by 2022 and 69% reduction by 2027. The focus is on rapid 
transition towards a zero-carbon future where action must be ‘front-loaded’. The report 
also indicated that if urgent action is not taken, the WMCA will use up its entire carbon 
budget within 6 years.

2.2 Following the production of the target, a ‘green paper’ was produced to indicate how the 
region could take action in order to reach net zero carbon emissions by 2041. The paper 
contained 73 actions of varying scale, complexity and investment requirement and was 
approved by the Combined Authority Board on 17th January 2020.

2.3 The WM2041 green paper was formally launched at an event on 23rd January 2020, which 
began the period of consultation. This ran until 12th March 2020 and, during this time, a 
significant amount was done to publicise the document and promote the opportunity to 
provide comment and input into it.

2.4 The consultation was run using four different routes: 

1) An online questionnaire, run by the WMCA, that included both open and closed 
questions to gain an indication on people’s wider thoughts on climate change and 
what they would like to see in the region. Local authorities were provided with 
communications packs to support the awareness raising around the consultation.

2) Facebook Messenger chatbots were used, working with a company called 
Novoville, to widen the exposure to the WM2041 plan and to try and reach a 
different audience. These were mainly closed questions.

3) A more intensive engagement programme, mainly working with young people, 
to gain some input into the plan itself and how we might work with different groups 
of people on climate change going forward.

4) For businesses and organisations that wanted to provide more detailed 
feedback, a generic email address was established to receive this input.

Page 6



2.5 As a result of the consultation, which is detailed in the attached report, we managed to 
reach 415 people through the questionnaire hosted on the WMCA’s website; 401 people 
through the Facebook Messenger chatbot; 16 people through The Democratic Society 
workshops; and, 31 businesses and organisations.

2.6 The consultation responses were largely positive. However, the public consultation could 
not be considered representative of the West Midlands population and therefore should 
be treated as providing insight, rather than a definitive understanding or regional public 
opinion on climate change. There are, however, some important proposals that we are 
recommending could be taken forward as a result of this consultation work, particularly 
how we deliver some of the actions in WM2041.

2.7 The response from organisations and business provided both additional specific actions, 
as well as some of the more strategic issues relating to 2041. Some of the input from 
these responses was in relation to sectors or technologies and their potential in 
addressing climate change, but others related to how we should move forward from a 
high-level strategy to urgent and transparent actions and delivery. These included 
suggestions such as clear action plans and annual monitoring. These are therefore 
picked up in our delivery programme for WM2041 set out for the Board’s consideration in 
this paper.

2.8 Following the identification of some highlights from the consultation process, the attached 
document presents some of the short, medium and longer term work that is necessary to 
deliver the ambition in WM2041. In the short to medium term, these proposals represent 
a crucial element of the region’s economic recovery programme from COVID-19. 

2.9 There are multiple pathways that we could take out of the current crisis and this paper 
indicates some of those that not only have benefits for the climate but will also be critical 
in creating jobs, increasing skills and seizing economic opportunities. There is a huge risk 
that economic recovery could entail a high carbon rebound, especially given the global 
low oil prices and fears about public transport. Such a scenario not only contravenes our 
legally-binding commitment to carbon reduction but also lurching from one crisis to 
another. Networks such as C40 and the COP26 Universities Network are urging city 
leaders and mayors to navigate a low carbon way out of COVID-19 on the basis that this 
will deliver economic advantage as well as supporting carbon reduction.

2.10 The actions presented in the paper, replicate the timetable set out in the Economic 
Recovery Prospectus: 1) Moving out of lockdown (0-4 months); 2) Consolidation (4-9 
months); 3) Accelerating and embedding (9 months plus); and then add: 4) Five-year 
delivery plans (the first one will run from 2021-2026). The plans identified vary 
significantly in scale, from smaller scale initiatives (the Clean Growth Challenge) through 
to potentially region-wide and complex schemes, like a retrofit programme. These bring 
together input from the WM2041 consultation and actions already identified in the plan 
but now with the additional context of COVID-19 recovery and the central role these 
actions will play in contributing to that. The details of the key priorities and the delivery 
plan are set out in sections 4 and 5 of the Appendix.

2.11 Also emerging from the consultation was a clear steer that there needs to be action 
planning for longer-term delivery. These five-year plans will package up activity on 
WM2041 into programmes of work with clear milestones and, also responding to 
comments in the consultation, will provide the opportunity to measure progress towards 
the carbon reduction target.

Page 7



2.12 The responses to the consultation drew attention to several cross-cutting issues around 
finance, engagement, behaviour change, communications, monitoring and reporting. 
These will be picked up in different ways, as highlighted in the paper. For example:

 The WMCA will explore options for financing green infrastructure projects through 
products like green bonds.

 Engagement and behaviour change considerations will be built into the 
programmes developed in the five-year plans. There also needs to be 
consideration of the channels we use for generic engagement and providing 
support and advice on what people can do to have a positive impact on climate 
change. This needs to be a collaborative effort working with local authorities, 
communities and national government.

 Communications campaigns will be a central part of the delivery of WM2041. This 
will consider regional-level initiatives as well as how the West Midlands can be 
represented at national and international events, for example COP26. 

 Monitoring and reporting are key for transparency around emissions reduction. 
The WMCA has committed to disclosing carbon emissions through the Carbon 
Disclosure Project. This information will be publicly available.

2.13 Addressing climate change will need to be a collaborative effort; ensuring that we have 
the right governance and engagement in place for delivery will be critical for us to 
succeed. This will need to take place alongside local authority partners to ensure that full 
account is taken of plans and work happening locally and that regional plans are not 
replicating or confusing local activity but rather complimenting and enabling it. 

2.14 Each of the main actions in the programme will have a working group/ taskforce 
established that brings together the necessary stakeholders for delivery. The governance 
proposed for this work is for the Environment Board to receive the updates on programme 
activity and progress, as well as to make decisions on the work on behalf of the CA Board. 
A Low Carbon Officers Group has been established, with membership of all the 
constituent local authorities, to support collaboration across the CA, co-development of 
proposals and subsequent implementation. An internal working group has also been 
established at the WMCA to ensure that there is collaboration across directorates on 
WM2041.  The proposals on governance are set out in sections 5.4 – 5.8 of the Appendix.

3. Financial Implications

3.1 There will be no direct financial implications as a result of approving the recommendations 
within this report as each investment proposal associated with the WM2041 plan will be 
the subject of a separate and specific costed approval.

3.2 The scale of the challenge is significant. The high-level figure of investment required to 
take the region to net zero carbon emissions by 2041 is £40bn (this is based on the 
Committee on Climate Change’s estimate of a 1-2% of GDP spend). This is the figure 
that appears in the original green paper.

3.3 The next steps will be, through the five-year plans, to develop business cases and 
investible programmes of work that more accurately identify the funding associated with 
delivery.  The work to develop the plan is funded within existing WMCA plans and budgets 
in 2020/21.

Page 8



3.4 Successful delivery of the wider agenda will require a blend of funding and financing from 
both public and private sector sources and as part of the investment proposals, the 
WMCA will assess the viability of available options. This may include funding options 
such as corporate sponsorship or specific asks of government and financing options such 
as the issue of a green bond where the income can be identified to underpin such 
arrangements.

4. Legal Implications

4.1 As a public authority the WMCA is affected by the implications of environmental 
legislation in all its activities.  Furthermore, there are environmental implications in all the 
functional activities of the Combined Authority and many of those areas will be affected 
by specific environmental legislation and controls. The environmental portfolio 
demonstrates how the authority both responds to those requirements and contributes to 
regional leadership in partnership with constituent and non-constituent authorities in the 
authority’s area.  

4.2 Where specific power is required to authorise actions which are not otherwise explicitly 
provided within the existing functions of the Authority, the WMCA has a functional power 
of competence under s113A of the Local Democracy, economic development and 
Construction Act 2009 to undertake actions which are related to or incidental to the 
performance of its functions. 

5. Equalities Implications

5.1 The equalities implications of this paper – and the activities it proposes – should create 
net positive effects in terms of the impacts on citizens and communities.  It 
demonstrates support for ‘just transition’ (deliberately mitigating the cost of changes for 
those least able to bear it) and seeks to embed environmental goals as part of an overall 
approach to economic growth that is more inclusive. The basis of the WM2041 plan is 
the United Nations Sustainable Development Goals, the aim of which is to create a fairer 
and more just future for people globally – the delivery of a net zero carbon future must be 
one that also delivers significant co-benefits.

6. Inclusive Growth Implications

6.1 There are many actions proposed in this paper that aim to support some of the most 
vulnerable people in terms of housing, access to employment and training and quality of 
neighbourhoods and places, for example. The work around climate change, and meeting 
the goals of 2041, will seek to be as inclusive as possible and, through engagement and 
consultation, we will aim to ensure that multiple voices are heard as we progress with 
implementing actions.

7. Geographical Area of Report’s Implications

7.1 The original Tyndall Centre work was based on the three LEPs that are part of the WMCA. 
This will not always be the geography used for implementation, which will vary according 
to the project or programme being taken forward at any given time. Understanding the 
most effective combination of stakeholders, including local authority partners, will be a 
critical part of developing work programmes and business plans.

Page 9



8. Other Implications

None.

9. Schedule of Background Papers

Appendix: ‘WM2041: a programme for implementing an environmental recovery’

Page 10



 
 

WM2041: a programme for implementing an environmental 

recovery 

1. Purpose 

1.1. The purpose of this paper is to set out the high-level response that was received 

through the consultation on the WM2041 plan and to outline some of the next 

steps we should take to move forward on addressing climate change. Clearly 

this now needs to be within the context of COVID-19 and the transition to a 

‘healthier, greener’ West Midlands so the paper also covers actions that could 

be taken in this regard. This paper will cover: 

• The feedback from the consultation on WM2041, pulling out priorities from 

the public, business and third sector responses. 

• Outline the COVID-19 context for climate change and some of the actions 

that are in WM2041 and that can be taken forward immediately and over 

the next twelve months. 

• The longer-term plans for delivery of WM2041, moving from strategy to 

delivery at scale. 

• Recommendations for moving forward. 

 

2. Recap on WM2041  

2.1. In June 2019, the WMCA declared a climate emergency. In July 2019 the 

Combined Authority Board received a paper from the Tyndall Centre outlining 

the trajectory that would be necessary in order to reach net zero carbon 

emissions by 2041. This work includes two interim carbon budgets of 36% 

reduction by 2022 and 69% reduction by 2027. The focus in on rapid transition 

towards a zero-carbon future where action must be ‘front-loaded’ – we will need 

to meet year-on-year carbon emissions reductions of 13% to reach that target.  

 

2.2. Following the production of the target, a ‘green paper’ was written to indicate 

how the region could take action in order to reach net zero carbon emissions 

by 2041. The paper contained 73 actions of varying scale, complexity and 

investment requirement and was approved by the Combined Authority Board 

on 17th January 2020. The green paper was formally launched at an event on 

23rd January 2020, which began the period of consultation. This ran until 12th 

March 2020 and, during this time, a significant amount was done to publicise 

the document and the opportunity to provide comment and input into it. 

 

2.3. The following section of this paper provides an overview of that consultation 

process before moving on to discuss the next steps for delivery. 

 

3. Update on WM2041 consultation 

3.1. The consultation on WM2041 was run through a number of different channels 

and invited responses from business and organisations, as well as from 

members of the public. The latter were consulted through three different routes:  

Page 11



 
 

• A WMCA-hosted survey, which we pushed out through our own 

communications channels and in partnership with communications teams 

in the local authorities. 

• A Facebook Messenger questionnaire run using chatbots and coordinated 

for us by a company called Novoville who have done similar work for other 

local authorities on their climate change plans. 

• Through in-depth workshops run by an organisation called The Democratic 

Society. 

 

3.2. The following sections provide some high-level insight into the responses from 

the consultation. More detail can be found in Appendix 1 of this report. 

 

The business and organisation response 

3.3. These responses were received through email/ letter and the preparation of 

standalone documents to reflect on WM2041, the actions that were highlighted 

and the overall approach to taking action on climate change. We asked four 

questions as part of the consultation: 

• Was anything missing? 

• What are the barriers and challenges as well as the opportunities? 

• What should accountability and governance look like? 

• How should we involve citizens? 

 

3.4. The following draws upon the responses that were made by more than one 

organisation. 

 

• Interim targets are needed on the route to taking emissions to net zero by 

2041, split by priority area. Retrofit was used as the example: e.g. how 

many houses would we complete each year? What are the costs of doing 

so? What would the carbon savings be? Etc. 

• Role of procurement: this needs to be strengthened through the report as it 

is an important way for the public sector to drive change 

• Be more explicit about links with flagship infrastructure projects, particularly 

how we will work to influence projects like the Commonwealth Games, 

Coventry City of Culture and HS2.  

• Need to build a partnership across ALL sectors this will require us to think 

carefully about the governance for delivery and what it should look like. 

• Need annual reporting to understand how we are progressing against a 

range of measures – not just carbon. 

• We should include Scope 1, 2 and 3 emissions in the plan 

• Be clear on financing – how are we going to pay for the scale of the 

transition that will be required? 

• Develop an action plan to set clear, time-bound targets, which will also 

provide clarity about powers and where they sit – for example, what sits 

with the WMCA and what powers sit with the local authorities. 

 

Page 12



 
 

Public consultation 

3.5. There was significant input into the consultation, across several platforms and 

involving different models of engagement: 

• Questionnaire (hosted on WMCA’s website): 415 people responded 

• Facebook Messenger chatbot: 401 people responded 

• In-depth workshops (these were run in Dudley and Solihull). These were 

small, focused events that brought together 16 people in total. They also 

ran interviews with a selection of local authorities (Wolverhampton, 

Birmingham and Solihull) on their public engagement on climate change. 

 

3.6. The breakdown from this consultation is provided in Appendix 1, but there are 

some key messages that we can take from the consultation process: 

 

• Reducing road traffic (and promoting walking and cycling in particular), and 

promoting energy efficiency in buildings, were seen as the best ways of 

tackling climate change. 

• Government is seen as the most important source of information on climate 

change. The respondents to the WMCA survey prioritised regional and local 

government, the Facebook Messenger respondents prioritised national 

government. 

• In terms of what people are already doing to try and reduce their carbon 

footprint, it falls into: 

• Mobility – using public transport, reducing the number of flights taken, 

walking, cycling and using a car less. 

• Food – both eating locally produced food as well as following a 

vegetarian or vegan diet. 

• Being conscious of energy consumption, for example turning things off 

at home and not over-heating the house. 

• Recycling and waste reduction, particularly single use plastics. 

• We need to work with people to develop the engagement and 

communication of the plans – this needs to be done through a diverse range 

of communication channels, including social media, video etc. 

• The delivery of WM2041 needs to be done in an inclusive way to ensure 

everyone is able to play a role in delivery. 

• It is worth highlighting that a significant minority: consider themselves to 

have no or basic knowledge of what to do; believe that they lack the money 

to make necessary changes; feel powerless to have any impact through 

individual action; believe that climate change is not as important as other 

issues; and rarely or never take action to reduce their carbon footprint.  

 

What is the role of WMCA in public engagement? 

3.7. We also asked people, through the consultation, how they might like to be 

involved as the strategy is further developed and implemented. There are some 

key principles that should form the basis of our future public engagement work: 

 

Page 13



 
 

• People want to be kept informed of the work that is happening on WM2041.  

• A significant minority want to be more closely involved.  

• We will respect place and subsidiarity – we do not need to lead every 

conversation and will not be best placed to. However, we do need to be 

active in making space for good engagement, supporting it, and listening 

attentively. 

• We need to ensure that we are designing communication and engagement 

that is fit for purpose – this will depend on the programme or project, but 

also thinking about our wider communication on WM2041. 

• That transparency around programmes of activity, their delivery and the 

contribution towards the carbon emissions target is fundamental. 

• That governance for delivery is important to get right and that this needs to 

involve multiple stakeholders. 

 

3.8. The combined returns from the consultation period – including formal and 

informal discussions at relevant events – will be folded into a revised version of 

WM2041. It will remain important as our strategic vision for 2041, but will be 

translated into five-year delivery plans, with carbon budgets assigned to them. 

However, the urgency of the climate crisis means that we also need to act 

immediately; we cannot wait for delivery plans to be developed before we start 

implementing change. As a result, we will also be putting programmes in place 

straight away that take on board the context of the reset afforded by COVID-19 

as well as the results from the consultation on WM2041.   

 

4. Immediate next steps: a green recovery from COVID-19 

4.1. The consultation process provided important insights and additions to the 

WMCA work on climate change. We are now, however, dealing with a new 

setting in which to deliver this activity and this section will outline some of the 

potential options for the region’s recovery from COVID-19 in the context of 

WM2041. The pandemic has been challenging for individuals, households, 

communities and business, and we need to be mindful of this in terms of using 

language around opportunity. However, by “bouncing back better” there is the 

chance to facilitate a green, inclusive transition as we emerge from lockdown 

and to think about the lessons COVID-19 has taught us about community 

response, behaviour change, resilience, the role of government regulation and 

the need for action based on science. Indeed, comparisons have been made 

between COVID-19 and climate change, particularly in relation to how we tackle 

something that is both urgent and global (albeit over different timescales).  

 

Principles 

4.2. In recovery from COVID-19, there are some observations that will be 

fundamental to the recovery and that should be taken into consideration: 

 

Page 14



 
 

• The UK Government has a statutory target of reaching net zero carbon 

emissions by 2050 and we are prepared to engage with them on a low carbon 

recovery from the COVID-19 pandemic. 

• As with COVID-19, there are many pathways to responding to climate change 

– we need to consider which of those are most effective and have greatest 

impact. But the response needs to be systemic – it is only by thinking in whole 

systems that it is possible to effectively tackle societal challenges like climate 

change or a global health pandemic. 

• Tackling the COVID-19 pandemic has shown that data and evidence are critical 

in supporting response, but that government regulation has a fundamental role 

to play in shifting behaviour to result in change at scale. 

• There is a risk of a high carbon rebound from the COVID-19, particularly given 

the very low oil prices we are currently seeing. In addition, perception of the 

safety of crowded public spaces (including trains and buses) could see people 

rejecting public transport in favour of personal transport options. This should be 

seen in the context that transport is already the biggest sector source of CO2 

(by end user and source), and sector emissions have stayed relatively level for 

20 years. 

• Conversely, the lower interest rates that are currently available might make this 

a good time to look at a range of financial vehicles with a view to investment in 

low carbon infrastructure. 

• The impact of COVID-19 has not been even, in the same way that climate 

change impacts in an unequal way. As a result, we should be thinking about 

how the recovery will support some of the most vulnerable people and 

communities in the West Midlands. 

• There is growing evidence that pre-existing exposure to negative environmental 

conditions has a direct impact on potential outcomes to disease – for example, 

research at Harvard University has concluded that a small increase in long-term 

exposure to PM2.5 [fine particulates] leads to a large increase in COVID-19 

death rate, with the magnitude of increase 20 times that observed for PM2.5 

and all-cause mortality1.   

• Social isolation has highlighted the need to think about the spaces we can 

create for people to be together and thrive, for example in the way we design 

housing, places and the public realm. 

• The power of the community response to the COVID-19 pandemic has 

highlighted the absolute requirement to work alongside people as agents of 

change and to understand how we give them the right support to do that. 

 

Timetable and approach 

4.3. It is currently unclear as to exactly what a recovery ‘timetable’ is going to look 

like but it is likely that it will involve a series of steps as we transition from 

 
1 Wu, X, et al. (2020) Exposure to air pollution and COVID-19 mortality in the United States, 
https://www.medrxiv.org/ 
 

Page 15

https://www.medrxiv.org/


 
 

lockdown towards a ‘new normal’, including the possibility of further lockdowns, 

particularly at the regional level, should outbreaks spike in particular places. 

 

4.4. Given this we propose three categories for action in the coming 12 months 

which are consistent with the approach set out in the Economic Recovery 

Prospectus: 

• Urgent action: Moving out of lockdown (0-4 months) and consolidation (4-

9 months) phases  (Sections 4.7 – 4.29) – activities that will have immediate 

impact and/or set a clear direction of travel for the kind of recovery we 

expect in the West Midlands. 

• 12-month priorities: Accelerating and embedding (9 months plus).  

(Sections 4.30 – 4.58) – activities that need to be pursued over the next 12 

months as key priorities within the wider recovery programme. 

• 5-year delivery plan priorities: Mid-long term programmes that need to 

be included in the first WM2041 5-year Delivery Plan. This will be prepared 

in conjunction will all relevant stakeholders during 2020 (Section 5). 

 

4.5. The actions being suggested in this section are also reflected in thinking coming 

through other networks that have expertise in this space. For example, the 

COP26 Universities Network and C40 are highlighting how and where city 

leaders and mayors can take leadership on reducing carbon emissions as part 

of the long-term recovery from COVID-19. The COP26 Universities Network 

has said that ‘The world could leap “from the COVID frying pan into the climate 

fire”, unless governments intervene to shift economies to clean pathways as 

they recover’. 

 

4.6. On May 6th, the UK’s Committee on Climate Change wrote to the Prime Minister 

urging a low carbon recovery from COVID-19. They outline 5 areas that should 

be expanded immediately (all of these appear below in the WMCA plans): 

• Investments in low-carbon and climate-resilient infrastructure. 

• Supporting reskilling, retraining and research for a net-zero, well-adapted 

economy. 

• Upgrades to our homes ensuring they are fit for the future. 

• Making it easy for people to walk, cycle, and work remotely. 

• Tree planting, peatland restoration, green spaces and other green 

infrastructure. 

 

Urgent Action: Moving out of lockdown/ consolidation phases 

4.7. Activities that will have immediate impact and/or set a clear direction of travel 

for the kind of recovery we expect in the West Midlands. These include: 

• West Midlands Green Financing 

• West Midlands Clean Growth Challenge 

• WM Circular Economy Taskforce 

• Community Green Grants 

• Reinforcing the region’s energy infrastructure to support green growth 

Page 16



 
 

• Active Travel 

• Urban Transformation Fund (Brownfield sites) 

• Communications and behaviour change 

 

West Midlands Green Financing 

4.8. Since 2013, when Gothenburg issued the first green city bond, they have 

become a way of cities and regions funding low carbon infrastructure projects. 

In recent times there has been an increasing demand for green bonds from 

investors, which far outstrips supply. The WMCA Finance Team is currently 

exploring the potential for a green bond, as well as other financing options for 

low carbon investment. Understanding financing options was a key request 

from the consultation process.  

 

4.9. There is also the option to set up a ‘West Midlands Future Fund’, where public 

funds are used to crowd in private investment, thereby building a vehicle that 

could deliver on retrofit, for example. This could be a route for the West 

Midlands Pension Fund to invest, for example (initial work could start 

immediately on scoping the potential). 

 

4.10. Energy Capital has already started to look at this type of arrangement and 

commissioned Enzen to develop a Green Infrastructure Fund2 proposal, which 

could be used to support a wide range of infrastructure projects required to 

underpin the green recovery.  

 

4.11. Action: Establish an officer working group in May 2020 and take initial 

proposals to the next Energy and Environment Board by July 2020. 

 

WMCA Clean Growth (Recovery) Innovation Challenge 

4.12. The aim of this would be to support small innovative companies, who often find 

it difficult to push their solutions through a public procurement process, to work 

with the WMCA on some of its challenges around clean growth. A competition 

would be run where broad challenges are put forward by the WMCA and 

organisations pitch their ideas for grant funding to develop them.  

 

4.13. We are currently exploring the possibility of funding this through 5G funds with 

DCMS matched funding. We are also looking into corporate sponsorship. 

 

4.14. Action: Identify funding options/ sponsorship and to shape the 

challenges that we would like to work on with a view to launching the 

Challenge in July with first winners announced in September. 

 

 

 
2 A FundCo has been proposed, set up as a community interest company (CIC) providing discounted commercial loans to 
eligible projects and recovering its costs through the interest gained (or arrangement fees). This would need to be funded 
initially with funds drawn from LEPs, central government and other sources. 

Page 17



 
 

 

WM Circular Economy Taskforce 

4.15. We will work with local partners, including the Circular Economy Club and 

International Synergies, to establish a Circular Economy Taskforce. The 

Taskforce will take the first steps towards establishing a Circular Economy 

Routemap (described in 4.52-4.55 below). 

 

4.16. Action: First working group of local stakeholders that have expertise in 

circular economy policy and delivery organised for 14 May. Membership 

for the Taskforce will be discussed, and a potential Chair identified. A 

timetable for the next steps will be taken to the Energy and Environment 

Board in June. 

 

Community Green Grants 

4.17. The mobilisation of people in response to COVID-19 has illustrated the 

importance of community action. This is no less true in the response to climate 

change, where we have seen places set up community action groups or 

community interest companies to support, for example, energy efficiency, 

renewable energy provision or tree planting. 

 

4.18. COVID-19 has also seen a surge of interest in local parks and green spaces 

but at the same time there is evidence that some communities have significantly 

less access to such spaces than others. 

 

4.19. We are exploring options for a small grants programme, devolved to local 

authorities and targeted towards particular places, to be able to build the 

community response to climate change. This would be an important way of 

maintaining and repurposing some of the community activity that has been seen 

in recent weeks and sustaining interest in green spaces. 

 

4.20. Action: Identify funding stream, delivery partner and local authority 

working group by mid-June with a view to launching the programme in 

July and first grants made in September. 

 

Reinforcing the region’s energy infrastructure to support green growth 

4.21. Decarbonising industry, business, housing and transport in the West Midlands 

will rely heavily on being able to draw low carbon power from the national 

energy grid. Affordable connections to the network will depend on whether 

OFGEM have allowed Western Power Distribution to invest sufficiently in the 

network in the West Midlands to enable planned economic growth. If not, 

developers, industry and businesses who need network connections, may find 

themselves being quoted millions of pounds for infrastructure upgrades, 

rendering business models unviable.   

 

Page 18



 
 

4.22. Energy Capital is currently working with Western Power Distribution and Cadent 

Gas to shape the information that they collect and provide to OFGEM. This is 

part of a rolling five-year funding process which determines whether OFGEM 

approve investment in the West Midland’s networks. Resources are required to 

ensure that a local area energy planning process is undertaken and consider 

the critical infrastructure plans of the region and local authorities, to identify 

where network upgrades are needed.  

 

4.23. Recognition by BEIS and OFGEM that UK regions should have a more formal 

governance role over the future of critical infrastructure is needed. This role 

could be limited to defined Energy Innovation Zones, or wider city regions and 

would help to build public trust, engage local stakeholders, and allow the 

networks to leverage the investment potential of regional economic plans and 

industrial strategies3. Recognition by OFGEM of the importance of regional 

plans and programmes led by democratically accountable bodies, as ‘strategic 

representatives of the consumer’, is a necessary foundation for this. 

 

4.24. Action: Energy Capital will prepare a paper for the June Energy and 
Environment Board concerning regional energy infrastructure with 
details of the devolved powers needed by the Combined Authority to 
ensure OFGEM consider the needs of the regions in their network 
planning cycles within Energy Innovation Zones. 

 

Active Travel 

4.25. Transport currently contributes 32% towards the WMCA’s carbon emissions. 

However, we know that of all the sectors, emissions from transport are not 

decreasing at the rate of some of the others (e.g. energy). The danger, coming 

out of COVID-19 lockdown, is that a perceived lack of safety of public transport, 

combined with low oil prices, will exacerbate this further with people driving 

more than before.   

 

4.26. Given the importance of transport and mobility, TfWM is already currently 

undertaking research to understand the level of technological and behavioural 

change that would be required to meet the region’s carbon reduction ambitions. 

This is extending to understand potential mobility preferences as people start 

to move around more following lockdown.  

 

4.27. The consultation on WM2041 already indicated that people were supportive of 

active travel as a means to act on climate change (33% placed this as their 

top option). This has been galvanised further during the COVID-19 lockdown 

with the public’s new support for active travel, quieter roads and telecoms 

(work from home and e-commerce) will help mitigate this risk. A number of 

local authorities have already adjusted public spaces and highway layouts to 

 
3 Energy Networks for the Future: A dialogue about the future of the electricity distribution networks, Regen 

(https://www.regen.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/Regen-Energy-Networks-for-the-future-web.pdf) 

Page 19

https://hes32-ctp.trendmicro.com/wis/clicktime/v1/query?url=https%3a%2f%2fwww.regen.co.uk%2fwp%2dcontent%2fuploads%2fRegen%2dEnergy%2dNetworks%2dfor%2dthe%2dfuture%2dweb.pdf&umid=ff6879fe-c29d-4194-bb61-08c9126a4f0b&auth=fa7ea1e474431715cf01e22d278823641e572141-77e71996ad85ce1d38dc49597ebea82e93519e7e


 
 

support social distancing e.g. High Streets, stations and to increase capacity 

for walking and cycling. 

4.28. On 9th May the Government announced an ‘Emergency Active Travel Fund’, 

with £250m to be made available immediately to support delivery of temporary 

schemes such as pop up cycle lanes and widening pavements. This is the first 

stage of a £2 billion investment, as part of the £5 billion in new funding 

announced. 

 

4.29.  Government has announced that funding and delivery will be co-ordinated 

through Mayoral CAs. TfWM has asked local authorities to propose potential 

schemes. These are subject to relevant review and approvals but demonstrate 

the level of ambition in the region. The proposals will be discussed and 

overseen through the new Transport Cell, as set out in the Recovering the 

Transport System report. 

 

4.30 Guidance for the Emergency Active Travel funding is yet to be published, but it 

is understood that up to £17.2 million will be made available to the West 

Midlands.  Access to this will be subject to the ability to meet specific criteria 

set out by the Department for Transport and the monies will be made available 

in two tranches.  The ability to implement ambitious measures very quickly is 

understood to be a critical factor in DfT’s assessment of any proposals.  A 

verbal update will be provided at the CA Board on the latest position by the 

Portfolio Lead for Transport. 

 

4.31 Actions being led by TfWM include:   

• Supporting and working with Local Highway Authorities to fund and 

deliver wider pop up cycle routes, implement pedestrian 

improvements and to improve the availability of bikes to all 

communities. 

• Develop a longer-term active travel package based on our ambitious 

regional Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plans. 

 

Urban Transformation Fund 

4.32. In February 2020 the WMCA submitted its Budget proposal for a £200m Urban 

Transformation Fund  (UTF) to deliver thousands of new homes on challenging 

brownfield sites, a programme that was referred to by the Chancellor of the 

Exchequer in the Budget speech on March 11th as part of the announcement 

of a national £400m Brownfield Fund. 

 

4.33. In response to a request from HMG and the ongoing impact of COVID-19, the 

initial UTF site programme has been reappraised for immediate impact. This 

stimulus package reflects the need to boost economic recovery, continue 

delivering the Brownfield regeneration programme and restore confidence in 

the market whilst maintaining value for money, robust governance and 

delivering genuine additionality. 

Page 20



 
 

 

4.34. The proposed Fund was developed with a focus on the contribution of sites to 

wider priorities – including town centre renewal, affordable housing, levelling up 

the economy, climate change and zero carbon housing. 

 

4.35. The interventions proposed include a broad range of activities to support 

sustainable development (e.g. transport upgrades, infrastructure investment, 

demolition works, remediation), unlocking delivery on challenging brownfield 

sites along new and existing public transport corridors. These works will then 

support the delivery of new homes being built using advanced eco-friendly 

modular construction techniques in line with the region’s WM2041 Climate 

Action Plan and ambition to achieve a zero carbon homes standard by 2025. 

 

4.36. Action: Housing and Regeneration Team to continue dialogue with HM 

Government to secure funding for Urban Transformation Fund with Phase 

1 deployment focused on immediate impact. 

 

Communications and behaviour change 

4.37.  Communications is an integral part of delivering the WM2041 plan. In order to 

achieve our objectives to reduce carbon emissions, we need to work 

collaboratively with business, local authorities and the citizens of the region. 

Everyone will need to make their contribution in order to achieve net zero 

carbon emissions by 2041.   

 

4.38. Climate change is a broad and complicated subject and citizen’s motivations 

for taking action are varied. Early consultation has shown that not all of our 

citizens feel it is a serious issue. The challenge for our communications is to 

understand those motivations and to use them to write clear, simple messaging 

that unlocks positive behaviour change. There is much to be learned about 

behaviour changes during the Covid-19 crisis and the different ways in which 

citizens have learned to respond to crisis, enjoy their local natural environment 

and adopt different form of active travel. 
 

4.39. In order to achieve this impact, our communications on climate change across 

the region need to be clear and consistent. Inconsistent or complex messaging 

will result in confusion and a lack of understanding on the impacts and 

necessary action.  

 

4.40. In order to achieve these outcomes we will develop an overarching 

communications strategy with local authorities that supports the aims of 

WM2041. Each initiative will also require a bespoke communications plan to 

focus on the delivery of the specific project objectives.  
 

4.41. Throughout the project, we will regularly collect audience insight using online 

surveys to ensure messaging remains relevant and effective.  

 

Page 21



 
 

4.42. Actions: In the first phase the communications team will:   

• Work with local authorities to develop an overarching 

communications strategy for WM2041 which, in the short term builds 

on behaviour change adopted during the Covid-19 crisis.  

• Develop a communications plan and behaviour change campaign for 

‘Active Travel’. This work is already underway with TfWM. 

• Develop a communications plan for each of the projects identified in 

paragraph 4.7.  

 

12-month Priorities: Acceleration and embedding phase 

4.43. These are activities that need to be pursued over the next 12 months as key 

priorities within the wider recovery programme. They include: 

• A regional retrofit programme 

• Zero carbon homes charter and routemap 

• WM Circular Economy routemap and action pan 

• Electric Mobility 

• Green neighbourhoods, natural capital and a WM National Park 

• Investment, procurement and assets 

• Disclosing carbon emissions to the Carbon Disclosure Project (CDP) 

 

Regional retrofit programme to tackle fuel poverty and carbon emissions 

4.44. Tackling domestic fuel efficiency is a significant challenge. It was also the most 

highly rated response that the WMCA should take on addressing climate 

change (from the WM2041 consultation process). High level estimates from the 

Chartered Institute of Housing are as follows: ‘The West Midlands Combined 

Authority covers some 860,000 homes. Let’s suppose 30% of these meet 

reasonable energy efficiency standards (Energy Performance Certificate Band 

C). This means that 600,000 need ‘retrofitting’ with insulation and other 

measures to bring them up to the standard’.  

 

4.45. The advantages in tackling this challenge are that retrofit: will be a big part of 

addressing fuel poverty and will have positive implications for carbon emissions 

reduction, job creation, skills development, innovation, support to the supply 

chain and a boost to the construction sector, for example. 

 

4.46. Whilst there is a close correlation between improving energy efficiency of 

homes and reducing fuel poverty, there are additional issues and complexities 

associated with the latter that we need to recognise. This will undoubtedly be 

exacerbated by COVID-19; we know some of our more vulnerable people will 

be adversely affected and the supply chain impacted through lack of demand 

for products and services. The regional Fuel Poverty Taskforce is already 

working on this through its programme, Warm Homes Save Lives, and this will 

feed into the Regional Retrofit Steering Group. 

 

Page 22



 
 

4.47. Action: The first meeting of the cross-directorate Regional Retrofit 

Steering Group will take place in w/b 25 May. It will be supported by a local 

authority-facing working group. We will develop a series of workstreams 

including: 

• Business case and finance, for example around a ‘West Midlands Future 

Fund’ (see above), a green bond or social investment bond linked to skills 

training (see below); 

• Delivery & supply chain 

• Local approach 

• Skills base and training to ensure we have enough people able to deliver 

the programme of work.  

• Devolution asks, for example around devolution of the Energy Company 

Obligation (ECO) to be used regionally. 

• Work to reduce fuel poverty, which will be led by the Fuel Poverty Taskforce 

 

4.48. Details of options and delivery frameworks will be brought to both to the 

Energy and Environment Board and the Housing and Land Boards at their 

forthcoming meetings in autumn 2020. 

 

Zero carbon homes routemap 

4.49. The routemap (being taking forward by the Housing and Regeneration Team) 

will provide understanding of the steps that are needed to reach a zero carbon 

homes standard by 2025. It will include an approach to both new build and 

retrofit projects.  

 

4.50. The current plan is to have a Zero Carbon Homes Charter ready for launch in 

autumn 2020 to be included in the Single Commissioning Framework. There is 

opportunity within the Single Commissioning Framework to include more on 

carbon reduction measures more generally. This approach was agreed by the 

Housing and Land Board in April 2020.  

 

4.51. Action: The Housing and Regeneration Team will run a workshop with the 

UK Green Building Council in June 2020 to kick off the programme with a 

view to a Charter being launched in autumn 2020. 

 

Circular Economy Routemap and Action Plan 

4.52. A regional approach to resource efficiency could be developed during 2020; 

adopting a circular approach is something that will benefit business as well as 

the public sector. This is part of a wider approach to waste reduction. 

 

4.53. A routemap would enable us to explore alternative business models such as 

incentivised return, leasing and sharing. A similar routemap completed for the 

London Waste and Recycling Board indicates that by 2036, the circular 

economy could provide London with net benefits of at least £7bn every year 

Page 23



 
 

and 40,000 new jobs (12,000 net additional jobs) in the areas of re-use, 

remanufacturing and materials innovation.  

 

4.54. We do not know what and where the current opportunities are in the West 

Midlands, but there is likely economic advantage and potential to create jobs. 

The routemap would help us understand this better. 

 

4.55. Action: The Circular Economy Taskforce will bring a draft Routemap and 

Action Plan to the Energy Environment Board by the end of 2020. 

 

Electric mobility 

4.56. Enabling the uptake of electric vehicles, through infrastructure provision, will be 

an important part of both emissions reduction and delivering on clean air 

priorities. The CA Board has previously approved (in Feb 2020) the next steps 

around vehicle charging and enabling energy infrastructure. 

 

4.57. Whilst there will be a focus on active travel as part of the recovery from COVID-

19, avoiding a high carbon rebound might also be enabled by use of electric 

vehicles. This could be cars, but we also the need to understand the role that 

will be played by, e-bikes and micro-mobility modes, e.g. e-scooters.  

 

4.58. In relation passenger and light goods vehicles, however, we will need to ensure 

that we are able to accelerate implementation of charging infrastructure for 

ULEVs to meet the forecasted take up of such vehicles in the West Midlands. 

 

4.59. Alongside this, we will need to ensure that we are working towards future-

proofing the regional automotive sector through supporting its shift towards 

production of electric vehicles. A West Midlands Gigafactory will be an 

important part of the infrastructure to enable this. 

 

4.60. Action: Work with Energy Capital, local authorities and TfWM to 

implement actions arising from the WM ULEV strategy for EV charging 

infrastructure and secure investment for infrastructure roll-out. 

 

Green neighbourhoods, natural capital and a WM National Park 

4.61. During the COVID-19 pandemic we have seen how important access to green 

space and natural capital has been important for people’s physical and mental 

health; 63% of people are now saying that being active is more important than 

ever before4.  

 

4.62. The community action that has happened in response to COVID-19 has seen 

people (re)connect more extensively with their neighbourhoods. This revaluing 

of place could be continued with programmes supporting expansion of natural 

capital. 

 
4 Source: Sport England’s Active Lives survey 

Page 24



 
 

 

4.63. We will work with colleagues at BCU to realise the potential of the WM National 

Park in providing a strategic context for natural capital and landscape.  

 

4.64. The Virtual Forest website, a platform set up by the WMCA to bring tree planting 

initiatives together, is being redeveloped to increase its functionality around 

natural capital growth and to make it more comprehensive.   

 

4.65. Action: We will establish a multi-agency WM Natural Capital Working 

Group, building on the existing Natural Capital Roundtable, to develop a 

more coherent approach towards natural capital across the WMCA, 

working with regional expertise and concepts already in development and 

bringing forward key opportunities for action. A review of options will be 

brought to the Environment Board in autumn 2020. 

 

Investment, procurement and assets 

4.66. As part of the on-going business transformation process we will support a more 

detailed review to ensure that WMCA is encouraging sustainable procurement, 

which entails both green public procurement (GPP) and socially responsible 

public procurement (SRPP).  Work done by Ashden and Friends of the Earth 

has suggested that this is one of the most effective things that public authorities 

can do to reduce their carbon emissions5. 

 

4.67. We will support the Assets Team in ensuring WMCA is showing leadership 

around its own operations and assets. This will include: continuing to develop 

the internal Environmental Management System and broadening its scope to 

incorporate the new brownfield land assets; ensuring that the WMCA estate 

responds to the climate emergency by working towards achieving net zero 

carbon emissions, taking on board actions in WM2041; and, that WMCA retains 

ISO14001 certification (this is showing that carbon outputs continually reduce). 

 

4.68. We are also considering new processes and mechanisms by which we can 

streamline existing tools like the WM Design Charter, Inclusive Growth Toolkit, 

Single Commissioning Framework etc to ensure all WMCA investment drives 

more inclusive and sustainable growth. 

 

4.69. Action: To bring forward further details of a programme to ‘decarbonise 

WMCA’ and show leadership in responding to the climate emergency to 

relevant programme boards of the Combined Authority in conjunction 

with plans to develop more co-ordinated mechanisms to drive more 

inclusive and sustainable growth. 

 

 
5 https://www.ashden.org/programmes/top-31-climate-actions-for-councils 

Page 25

https://www.ashden.org/programmes/top-31-climate-actions-for-councils


 
 

Disclosing carbon emissions to the Carbon Disclosure Project (CDP) 

4.70. A frequently recurring comment made as part of the WM2041 consultation 

process was that there needs to be transparency in relation to monitoring and 

measurement of carbon emissions. The CDP is a globally recognised way for 

cities and private sector to do this. 

 

4.71. The reporting is done annually and will help us understand where the gaps are 

in our current plans and delivery. Wolverhampton and Coventry already report. 

Birmingham is reporting for the first time this year as well. 

 

4.72. If the CA Board approves this paper and works actively towards a first WM2041 

5-year delivery plan (see below) WMCA is very likely to receive a good score 

with the CDP assessors. 

 

4.73. Action: Complete the 2020/2021 report by the deadline of August 26th 

2020.  

 

5. Looking to the next five years and beyond 

5.1. From a piece of work Arup undertook with WMCA as part of the next steps for 

WM2041, they found the following: 

• Of the 73 actions outlined in the plan, we have estimated that 38 are likely 

to be invest-able in their own right; the remaining 35 actions would likely 

require bundling with other actions in order to attract investment (for 

example, stakeholder engagement actions may be effectively packaged 

with capital improvement projects). 

• We have estimated that 35 actions may be under the direct control of 

WMCA (including TfWM). The remainder would require cooperation and/or 

collaboration with other actors, including central government, local 

authorities, industry, academia, developers, citizens, the NHS, and major 

infrastructure/ property owners, such as Birmingham Airport. 

 

5.2. Delivery on climate change will be both complex and complicated and therefore 

we need to prepare clear plans to ensure progress is being made. The proposal 

is a commitment to building five yearly delivery plans (four in total) with targets, 

to include interim carbon budgets and other metrics. This will take time to do 

and will need us to commission external support. This piece of work will begin 

immediately and will provide us with a clear plan to 2026 (in the context of 

reaching net zero by 2041). This responds to one of the most frequently 

recurring suggestions made through the consultation process. The five year 

delivery plan and regional carbon budget will be the principal basis upon which 

any energy and environmental negotiation might take place within a future 

devolution settlement. 

 

Page 26



 
 

5.3. The diagram below (and the graphic in Appendix 2) describe how we might take 

this forward, and the different elements involved. These were produced by Arup 

to support thinking about the next steps for WMCA on climate change. 

 

 

 

Governance 

5.4. A clear priority is to build a governance structure that is effective for delivery, 

and that brings together stakeholders from different sectors, to reflect the 

shared challenge we are facing. To do this effectively, there needs to be 

consideration of: 

 

5.5. The Energy and Environment Board currently provides political leadership to 

this work. This will be the route through which the decisions and actions around 

the delivery plans (both in relation to the COVID-19 response and the five-year 

plans) will be taken. 

5.6. A local authority Low Carbon Officers Group has been established for the 

constituent authorities to come together; and will meet every six weeks going 

forward. The group provides the opportunity to share the progress of work on 

WM2041 and wider strategy work, for example on Devo Next. Local authorities 

are also able to share the latest work that they are doing on addressing climate 

change. As this group matures it will be the place where thought can be given 

to collaborating for delivery on specific programmes of work. 

5.7. Internal arrangements. A cross-directorate internal group has been 

established to share what is happening across the different WMCA teams. As 

the action plans are developed, this will become important for designing plans 

and for supporting delivery.  

5.8. Project-specific arrangements. Each of the different elements of delivery will 

require bringing stakeholders together in different ways to ensure progress is 

made quickly. The plans above have identified groups and taskforces that will 

be established to steer the work forwards. Different arrangements will be put in 

on a programme-by-programme basis as we move forwards. 

 

Page 27



 
 

Suggested governance structure for WM2041: 

 

 
 

Next steps for the five-year climate action plans:  

5.9. We suggest that the following should be progressed as part of the next steps 

for the WM2041 five year plans: 

 

5.10. Commit to developing five yearly delivery plans with targets, to include 

carbon budgets and other metrics. There will be an externally commissioned 

piece of work, which will need to be cross-cutting and inclusive of all 

stakeholders, working closely with local authorities. 

 

5.11. Revise the WM2041 strategy document in light of the feedback that that came 

through the consultation. This will be a shorter document than the previous 

iteration, providing high-level direction of travel. The actions, currently in this 

document, will be taken forward through five-year plans. 

 

5.12. Hold a facilitated meeting with Leaders and Chief Executives as part of 

building collaboration and coordination around strategy and delivery. We need 

to make sure that everyone is on board with the delivery of WM2041 as a joint 

effort, and that the five-year action plans are co-owned by local authorities and 

other regional partners. This is particularly important given the shared nature of 

the actions. 

 

5.13. Build an ongoing engagement programme with the people of the region, 

which will need to blend with approaches taken by local authority partners, as 

well as existing community-led activity. Early indications from the WM2041 

consultation are that this will need to include both intensive involvement in 

shaping the agenda and around particular programmes of activity, but also 

ongoing information, advice and guidance relating to the overall agenda and 

specific projects within that.  

Page 28



 
 

 

5.14. Support the development and implementation of a carbon literacy training 

programme to support development and leadership the workforce will need to 

make this happen. This will be a pilot at the WMCA to begin with but could be 

rolled out further, particularly within the public sector, as it will be tasked and 

held to account for delivery.  

 

6. Summary of recommendations and actions 

6.1 The WMCA Board is recommended to: 
 

• Receive the summary of the consultation feedback on WM2041 set out in the 
appendix of the main report. 

• Agree that the recovery from the COVID-19 pandemic should be one that 
supports the ambition for a fairer, greener, healthier West Midlands and builds 
on those aspects of the crisis that prefigure a low carbon economy.  

• Approve the programme of activity identified in this Board paper including key 
priorities to be developed in the coming 12 months, alongside the development 
of a 5-Year #WM2041 Delivery Plan. 

• Agree the need for a coordinated approach around tackling climate change and 
an effective approach to governance as set out in 2.13. 
 

6.2. We are developing a Delivery Programme of urgent action that we can progress 

in the coming 12 months. This is particularly pertinent as we consider a post-

COVID-19 transition to a ‘healthier, greener’ West Midlands and will include: 

• Establishing the financing options for infrastructure delivery as well as to 

support continuity of community action and activity on addressing climate 

change. 

• Developing plans for a large-scale fuel poverty and retrofit programme as 

well as a Circular Economy Taskforce and routemap to support resource 

efficiency in the region, whilst also providing economic opportunity and jobs 

across the region. 

• Support for the route to net zero emissions in the built environment through 

the development of a standard for new builds, unlocking delivery on 

challenging brownfield sites and implementing a retrofit programme. 

• Enabling a reduction in emissions through transport as we promote and 

enable active travel as we come out of lockdown as well as supporting roll 

out of EV charging infrastructure. 

• Realising the full potential of procurement processes through a revision to 

the WMCA procurement policy and the Single Commissioning Framework 

and show leadership, as a Combined Authority, around our own emissions 

reduction through procurement, audit, reporting and approaches to 

commissioning and investment. 

• Providing a review of options around natural capital and how we take a 

strategic approach to green space. 

 

Page 29



 
 

6.3. Work towards a process of five-year carbon budgets and action plans, with the 

first one put in place to cover the period from 2021-2026. This will involve: 

• Holding a facilitated meeting with Leaders and Chief Executives as part of 

building collaboration and coordination around strategy and delivery. The 

five-year action plans should be co-owned by local authorities and other 

regional partners. 

• Implementing proposals for the governance arrangements that need to be 

in place to make us effective, in terms of democratic legitimacy, regional 

collaboration and overall pace and delivery.  

 

 

Page 30



 
 

Appendix  1: The results from the consultation 

 

Introduction 

This appendix provides an overview of the different types of data gathered to 

understand how some of the people in the West Midlands feel about climate change, 

as well as the WM2041 plan itself. It also brings together a high-level overview of the 

business/ organisation response to the WM2041 plan. The results of the public 

consultation should be treated as insights, rather than a representative overview of 

what people in the West Midlands think about climate change or the WM2041 plan. 

There is however valuable information on how we should communicate with people, 

as well as understanding what people feel some of the obstacles are. The information 

was obviously gathered before the full implications of COVID-19 were understood, 

however the UK’s National Assembly on Climate Change, which has continued 

virtually through the lockdown, has shown no diminishing of interest in addressing 

climate change as an issue with 107 of the initial 110 participants still joining the 

events. 

 

Results from the WMCA questionnaire 

The aim of this questionnaire was to ascertain some high-level feedback from the 

consultees, whilst also providing an opportunity for people to add comments through 

some ‘free form’ text boxes. The following sections take the questions that were asked 

one-by-one and provide the responses in a quantitative and, where appropriate, 

qualitative format. The latter is a selection of the responses, which demonstrates the 

range of opinion. 

 

Which of the following most closely describes your position on climate change? 

• I am engaged and informed and make daily decisions based on reducing my 

impact on the climate: 70%  

• I am aware of climate change, but I don’t know what I can do as an individual/ 

family to address it: 15%  

• I find all the information on climate change confusing, but I am concerned about 

its possible effects: 7%    

• I am not concerned about climate change: 8% 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 31



 
 

Position on climate change by age and gender 

 

 
 

Which actions do you think are the most important for the West Midlands to take 

to tackle climate change? 

Respondents were asked to rank 10 climate change actions that the West Midlands 

could take to tackle climate change in order of importance, an overall ranking out of 

100 was calculated for each action to see which was considered as most important 

overall. There was space provided for people to add in additional actions if they didn’t 

feel a particular issue was covered. 

 

In terms of the issue people ranked first, the results break down as follows: 

1. Reduce road traffic (walking and cycling more): 33% 

2. Conserving energy in buildings: 19% 

3. Plant and conserve more trees: 13% 

4. Reduce petrol and diesel vehicles: 13% 

5. Reduce the use of single use plastics: 12% 

 

When taking all responses into account conserving energy in buildings was ranked as 

the most important action, this was closely followed by reducing road traffic/walking 

and cycling more. 

 

Ranked as third most important was planting and conserving more trees, followed by 

reducing the use of single plastics (fourth place) and reducing petrol and diesel 

vehicles (fifth place). 

 

Ranked in tenth place and given the least importance was buying organic/local 

produced seasonal foods. 

 

79
68 71 76

62 68 74

13
21 16

13

12
13

17

3 3 8 4

13
7

75 8 5 7 12 12
2

0

10

20

30

40

50

60

70

80

90

100

16-24 25-34 35-44 45-59 60+ Male Female

I am not concerned about climate change

I find all the information on climate change confusing but I am concerned about its possible effects

I am aware of climate change, but I don’t know what I can do as an individual/ family to address it

I am engaged and informed and make daily decisions based on reducing my impact on the climate

Page 32



 
 

Potential Climate Change Actions Ranking, Score And % Rating Action Most 

Important 

Ranked score out of 100 calculated using following weighting 1st most important=100; 

2nd=90; 3rd=80; 4th=70; 5th=60; 6th=50;7th=40; 8th=30; 9th=20; 10th=10 divided by valid 

base  

 

 Rank Total score out of 100 % most important 

Conserve energy in buildings such as homes and 

offices including making changes to existing buildings 
1 73 19 

Reduce road traffic/walking and cycling more 2 70 33 

Plant and conserve more trees 3 62 13 

Reduce the use of single use plastics 4 58 12 

Reduce petrol and diesel vehicles 5 57 13 

Reduce need to travel e.g. by introducing flexible 

working 
6 53 6 

Use more electric cars 7 44 4 

Encourage more 'green' business into the West 

Midlands 
8 43 3 

Increase the amount of energy produced locally 9 42 5 

Buy organic/locally produced/seasonal food 10 42 3 

 

Are there any other actions which you think are important for the West Midlands 

to take to tackle climate change? (Other - please write in) 

182 respondents gave further suggestions as to actions the West Midlands could take 

to tackle climate change.  Comments were grouped together under key themes for 

purposes of analysis. The main suggestions are in the table below. 

 

The top further suggestions focused on investing in a better/more effective public 

transport network (25%), with a further 10% stating public transport should be 

free/cheaper. 

 

8% thought that recycling in the West Midlands needed improving, with less going to 

landfill and wider recycling options. 

 

7% thought new buildings should be green/more energy efficient. 

 

Top Further Suggested Actions West Midlands Could Take Over Climate Change 

Base : 182 respondents who gave a further comment 

 Responses % 

Invest in a better/more effective public transport network as alternative 

to car 46 25 

Free public transport/cheaper public transport/ increase tax to pay for 

free PT 18 10 

Make recycling easier/more options for household recycling/reduce 

waste going to landfill/tetra pak recycling 14 8 

New buildings/developments to be green/more energy efficient new 

homes 12 7 

Page 33



 
 

Encourage repair and longevity of use /second-hand market/borrowing 

library to reduce consumption 11 6 

Support for households/business to make energy efficient changes to 

their buildings/retro fit grants 11 6 

Dedicated cycle infrastructure/safer for cycling 11 6 

Unwilling to make any behavioural changes/don't believe in climate 

change/against climate change schemes 11 6 

Policies to incentive business financially to reduce carbon/encourage 

business to be more sustainable 9 5 

More investment in renewable energy/investment in solar/wind 9 5 

Scrap polluting modes of public transport e.g. electric Metro; diesel 

buses 9 5 

Encourage people to eat greener/low carbon food 8 4 

Invest in more green spaces/pasture as well as planting trees/ensure 

green spaces are maintained 7 4 

Less investment in fossil fuel producing companies e.g. via pension 

funds 7 4 

Incentives to encourage green businesses/green producers/create 

green jobs 7 4 

Stop HS2 6 3 

Limit air travel/reduce flights 6 3 

 

These are just examples of some of the responses that were put forward: 

• Take it seriously - all new buildings should have solar panels on them and 

electric car charging points -all schools/public buildings/supermarket car 

parks/etc should have car charging points. 

• Free public transport and a scrappage/swappage scheme for most polluting 

cars. We need to create climate jobs by installing solar panels on all public 

building and inviting all private buildings to be part of this. We need to insulate 

homes too. 

• Improve public transport and safe cycle routes, provide grants or interest free 

loans for home energy efficiency improvements. reintroduce FITs for renewable 

energy such as solar panels. 

• It makes no sense to invest in fossil fuels through the West Midlands Pension 

Fund. To tackle climate change, the fund should invest in local green 

infrastructure. 

• Quantify your aims - or you sound naive and disingenuous i.e. don't just use 

words like 'improve', 'increase', 'more' but state how to measure the change. 

• Impossible to answer this question as I have no concerns about climate change. 

How far do you agree or disagree with the following statements on what stops 

you or other people you know from acting on climate change?  

• ‘My council doesn’t have the right services to help me be more environmentally 

friendly’ 

• ‘I don’t have the money to make changes’ 

• ‘I don’t know how to make changes and I need more information’ 

(Figures below are given in percentages) 

Page 34



 
 

 

Do you have any other comments on what stops you or other people you know 

from acting on climate change? 

This was free form text – the responses below are a sample of those taken from the 

consultation: 

• Individuals are at the mercy of poor transport infrastructure, lots of people would 

love to leave the car at home but local bus and train services are too poor. 

• Information on how make changes and what changes we can make. 

• I cannot answer this question as what stops me acting on climate change is not 

what stops other people. 

• Leadership on the issue. Large enough scale initiatives that most citizens can 

get behind. 

• People are stopped from acting on climate change because they consider the 

likely impact is not worth spending a lot of money on. 

• There has been no change in council behaviour /services in the wake of 

declaring a climate emergency.  Business as usual has continued (i.e. 

promoting and funding road schemes). 

• Even people who are homeowners need help to improve insulation and solar 

power. 

• Please focus on systematic change not individual change. 

 

 

 

 

 

0 5 10 15 20 25 30 35 40 45

I don't know how to make changes and I need more
information

I don't have the money to make changes

My Council doesn't have the right services for me to be
environmentally friendly

What stops you from acting on climate change?

Don't know Strongly disagree Disagree Neutral Agree Strongly agree

Page 35



 
 

Where do you get most of your information on climate change? 

People were asked to select their top 3 options (shown in the table below), but there 

was space to include elements that had not been included in the closed questions: 

 1st 2nd 3rd 

Newspapers 36%  35% 29% 

TV 42%     32% 26% 

Social media 40%     34% 26% 

From talking with family 15%     30% 55% 

From government 12%   38%   50% 

From reading books on 
the subject 

64%     21% 15% 

Podcasts 8%     45% 47% 

Radio 24%     
 

38% 39% 

 

Other sources of information include:  

• Academic journals 

• Websites: a variety were given, including UKGBC, Friends of the Earth, 

Greenpeace, the BBC, NASA, the British Antarctic Survey, the Committee on 

Climate Change, government websites 

• First-hand observations on how things are changing 

• Environmental groups 

• Public meetings 

• TED Talks 

• Through study 

Who would you like to see leading the climate change agenda in the West 

Midlands? 

 

Local and regional 
public sector

52%
Council of 

citizens
25%

National 
government

23%

WHO WOULD YOU LIKE TO SEE LEADING ON THE 
CLIMATE CHANGE AGENDA IN THE WEST 

MIDLANDS?

Page 36



 
 

94 respondents gave further suggestions as to who should lead on climate change 

locally.  The table below summarises the main responses: 14% suggested that experts 

and scientist should lead, while 12% suggested everyone should take a lead.   

Further suggestions on who should lead on climate change 

Base: 94 respondents 

 
Respondents % 

Experts/scientists 
13 14 

Everyone 
11 12 

No one/waste of time/no such thing as climate change 
10 11 

Backed up by national government 
9 10 

All of them/all of the above 
8 9 

Individuals/members of the public 
7 7 

Mix councillors/citizens in partnership 
5 5 

Local councils 
5 5 

Businesses 
4 4 

Local referendum needed on climate change ideas/consult widely 
4 4 

 

There was some free-from text to enable people to provide a response to ‘Other’ – this 

is a sample of those: 

• Local councils should have this role. They know the area/region and what can 

or can't be done. 

• Combined Authorities in combination with councils, businesses, charities and 

the public. 

• A combination - important role of local councils & regional bodies, but need for 

council of citizens 

• Every level needs to be addressing this issue 

• Citizens should be involved but I worry that a council of citizens would not 

actually have any power. 

• National Government and regional bodies with local councils and business. Not 

one body can deliver. 

• Unbiassed scientists who will look at ALL the facts not a social agenda. 

If there is anything you think we’ve overlooked or haven’t given enough 

emphasis to in our plans, please provide details below. 

This was an open-ended question and 215 respondents provided a valid response to 

this question.  Responses were grouped together under similar themes for purposes 

of analysis.  The table below provides a summary of key responses. 

• The main comment focused on the need for there to be more emphasis on 

improving public transport (16%). 

Page 37



 
 

• Respondents also believed there should be more emphasis on saving/creating 

green spaces/planting more trees (9%) or more investment in cycling (8%). 

• There were a number of comments relating to buildings with 7% equally wanting 

grants to improve the sustainability of buildings or for new developments to be 

green and sustainable. 

• There was a sentiment amongst some that the plan lacked clear 

actions/timescales (7%).  In line with this there was also a feeling that the plan 

needed more urgency and action was needed now (6%). 

• Echoing sentiments throughout this report 7% wanted more emphasis on 

improvements to recycling. 

 

Suggestions for improvements to the plan 

Base: 215 valid responses 

 

 Responses % 

More emphasis on improving public transport/more investment in public 

transport to reduce car use 
35 16 

More on saving and creating green spaces/plant more trees/more high quality 

trees 
19 9 

More investment for cycling/more emphasis on improving cycling 17 8 

Building insulation grants/old green deal/retrofit programme for buildings/use of 

renewables in buildings 
16 7 

Planners/new development to incorporate these sustainable policies/green 

focus part of planning application 
14 7 

Lack of clear actions/timescales/needs measurable goals and responsibilities 14 7 

More on recycling/more emphasis on recycling/recycling of wider range of 

products 
14 7 

Urgent action needed/changes need to be made more quickly/need to act 

quickly  
13 6 

Public transport to be free/cheaper public transport will encourage use 12 6 

Make it more relevant to people/what changes people can make and effect 11 5 

 

These are some of the responses: 

• ‘More engagement within schools would be useful, to provide children with a 

climate education. From an early age, children will be informed of the practical 

and sustainable ways in which they can help to combat the climate crisis’. 

• ‘More local examples of how real local people have made eco changes with no 

negative impact on their lives. I would be encouraged if I knew someone down 

the road was making these changes as it would encourage me to give it a 

crack’. 

• ‘I think that we should be working more with other regions. Or if this is already 

happening, the plans should provide that line of sight with regional, national and 

international goals.   Environmental issues cross boundaries and the people 

move/travel around the UK for work/social activities. Different regions have 

different plans/goals and issues around environmental issues and activities are 

Page 38



 
 

not standardised making it difficult for to know what's acceptable and not. Waste 

is a prime example’. 

• ‘The reality of having a knowledgeable and skilled workforce in place to carry 

out the work needed, the size of the retrofitting task needed (we will have 70% 

of the buildings have now in 50 years time),mobilising private business to get 

behind the initiative and getting the general public on board’. 

• ‘Get balanced information from actual scientists (not just the doomsayers) & do 

not make decisions based on knee jerk reaction.  Revisit & closely study the 

logistics of your proposals which will turn the Midlands back to pre-industrial 

times’. 

• ‘You simply must NOT set a blanket ban fossil fuel cars until a viable alternative 

is available. I have yet to see a FULL economic costing (and risk analysis) for 

using electric vehicles.  To make them remotely viable, there must be a 

Government contribution to the purchase price.  Even then they remain unsafe 

to travel long distances especially in winter.  Perhaps WMCA should provide 

every home with a really basic, cheap & cheerful electric car for local use?’ 

Do you want to be included going forward? 

When asked if people would like to be kept informed, 76% of people said that they 

would like to be kept up-to-date. In total, 59% of people said they would like to be part 

of a citizens group looking at tackling climate change. 

 

Novoville 

The sections below outline the results that came through from the Novoville work. This 

was a process that used chatbots on Facebook Messenger to get a high-level 

overview of people’s feelings about climate change and the types of action that people 

are already taking, as well as what prevents them from doing more. There was much 

less opportunity for free text in this survey. 

 

According to experts, how likely is it that the current warming trend is the result 

of human activity? 

From the results: 

• 23% of people thought that there was a 65% likelihood that climate change is 

caused by human activity.  

• Another 23% thought that it was an 85% chance. 

• 54% of people thought that there was a 95% likelihood. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 39



 
 

Compared to other issues, how important do you think climate change is? 

 

 
 

How would you rate your knowledge about climate change? 

• I don't know anything: 6% 

• Basic: 18% 

• Knowledgeable: 70%  

• Expert: 6% 

 

Where do you get you information about climate change from? 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

140

160

180

200

Friends and
family

Newspapers Social media TV/radio Web

Page 40



 
 

How often do you consciously try to diminish your carbon footprint? 

 

 
 

What do you do in particular to reduce your carbon footprint? 

This was an open-ended question. The responses could be largely grouped into: 

• Mobility – using public transport, reducing the number of flights taken, walking, 

cycling and using a car less. 

• Food – both eating local as well as following a vegetarian or vegan diet 

• Being conscious of energy consumption, for example turning things off at home 

and not over-heating the house. 

• Recycling and waste reduction, particularly single use plastics. 

 

What obstacles do you and others encounter in trying to reduce your carbon 

footprint? 

Again, this enabled people to add their own text into the questionnaire. It should be 

noted that many people (83%) left this section blank. The responses covered the 

following broad areas: 

• That it won’t make any difference. People particularly suggested that individual 

actions will not have any effect. For example: ‘I think something on a massive 

scale is needed rather than expecting everyone to do little things. One huge 

effort is needed’. 

• Several people indicated that they didn’t know how to respond to climate 

change and didn’t have the information to act. 

• Others said that they thought climate change as an issue, or the human element 

of it, was not real and therefore did not require action. 

 

Who do you think should take the lead on action on climate change? 

In terms of who this group thought should provide the lead on climate change, the 

responses were quite different: 

• Central Government: 52% 

• Corporations: 21% 

Page 41



 
 

• Individuals and family: 14% 

• Councils: 3% 

• Regional authority: 10% 

 

In-depth workshops 

This work was taken forward with The Democratic Society (Demsoc), who have 

extensive experience in working with people and communities on climate change. 

They ran two participatory workshops with groups across the CA area to understand 

their thoughts on the plan and find out people’s preference for long-term engagement 

on #WM2041.The aim was to target different cohorts to gain and compare insight. The 

workshop session plan was co-designed by Young Combined Authority, WMCA and 

Demsoc. 

Two workshops were held (a third was unable to go forward because of restrictions 

that came into lace around social gatherings). They were with two groups of people: 

one in Dudley and the other in Solihull. The feedback from the workshops were as 

follows: 

Dudley Young People's Group (10 young people aged 16-25) 

• Education relating to climate change could feature more strongly in the plan – 

letting people know what’s in the plan, why actions are important and how this 

might affect them. 

• In relation to ‘Our future will respect our heritage,’ young people added ‘We will 

learn from our mistakes,’ as well as ‘being proud of where we live.’ 

• Inclusion of vulnerable groups, specifically homeless young people, was seen 

as important, in connection with ‘taking everyone with us’. 

• Getting regular updates and information out was raised, especially when things 

change so fast – like legislation on car use. 

• Worry about having the right skills for the upcoming future workplace was 

expressed. 

• Rewarding good behaviour, such as using public transport and recycling, was 

mentioned. 

• A lack of confidence was cited as a potential barrier to involvement, including 

not knowing enough about what stage policies are at, what is planned, and the 

best way to be involved in this. Updates that could address are important. 

• In one case it was suggested that communication about coming changes is 

what would be most important to some people, more than being involved in 

these decisions. 

• There was lots of feedback on the format, content and style of the plan itself. 

Suggestions included shorter, easier to read versions and using diagrams and 

videos. 

• The young people were keen that work is done on how the plan is disseminated, 

so more people know about it and know how they can get involved in it. It was 

felt that young people should be involved in developing future communication 

around this topic to make sure it works for this audience - for example by 

working with colleges. 

 

Page 42



 
 

Experts by Experience (EbE) Solihull CIC (6 people, mixed age groups) 

• This group highlighted not leaving anyone behind, as the most important 

principle in the climate change plan. 

• Having information that’s accessible was seen as really important - and an 

important aspect of democracy. 

• While there was interest in the combined authority’s climate change plan, it was 

felt that it is too long and too hard to take in. Suggestions for making it more 

accessible included: a spoken version with visuals, a video of someone 

explaining it, using colour combinations that work better for people with 

dyslexia, and using pictures and bullet points. 

• Members of the group were interested in helping improve the accessibility of 

information in the future, and in helping reach a younger demographic. 

• It’s important to be aware of who is left out amidst changes being made. For 

instance, one participant couldn’t use public transport and so wanted other 

environmentally friendly travel options.  

• The direct personal impact of changes was recognised as an important 

concern, and something that people would like to have a say on. There was a 

desire to collaborate with local authorities on how to improve quality of life 

amidst these changes, rather than just being told about them.  

• Potential barriers to involvement include not being invited to collaborate, lacking 

knowledge of consultations, and time constraints. 

• Friends, family and carers were highlighted as trusted sources. 

• There was interest in sharing views digitally as well as working together face to 

face – with suggested options including online surveys, social media, email or 

text messages. Getting involved online from home can help overcome time 

barriers. 

• Participants wanted occasional updates on the plan, unless there were 

important developments. Preferred channels of communication included social 

media, text, email and face to face.  

 

The response from business/ organisations 

In total there were 31 responses to the WM2041 plan from the public, private and third 

sectors. The responses came from: 

• Birmingham City Council 

• Coventry City Council 

• Black Country LEP 

• Arup 

• Cemex 

• Energy Capital (a coordinated response from the Board) 

• UK Green Building Council 

• Friends of the Earth 

• Climate Alliance Network for the West Midlands 

• National Express 

• Sustainability West Midlands 

Page 43



 
 

• Circular Economy Club 

• Royal Town Planning Institute 

• Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors (who coordinated a response from: 

West Midlands and Oxfordshire, CBI; Arcadis; HS2 Ltd; Institution of Civil 

Engineers; Chartered Institute of Building; RIBA; Innovation Alliance for the 

West Midlands; Planning Futures; Chartered Institute of Housing; and, RICS 

itself). 

• TDC Air Quality, Congestion and Environmental Sustainability Lead Member 

Reference Group 

• Tyseley Energy Park 

• Karakusevic Carson Architects 

• Adelan 

• RSPB 

• Central England Quakers 

• Midlands Energy Hub 

There were some very detailed responses to the plan, as well as some additional 

suggestions included for specific areas of activity. We will work with the outputs of the 

submissions in developing the next steps for WM2041, over the next 12 months and 

in terms of building the five yearly delivery plans.   

Response to the consultation 

The consultation exercise was split into a number of different elements, which resulted 

in a wide range of responses from members of the public, as well as from 

organisations. We asked four questions as part of the consultation: 

• Was anything missing? 

• What are the barriers and challenges as well as the opportunities? 

• What should accountability and governance look like? 

• How should we involve citizens? 

The following text draws upon the responses that were made by more than one 

organisation. We will also be taking into account the other comments and suggestions 

that were made as we go forwards. 

 

Was anything missing? 

• Interim targets are needed on the route to taking emissions to net zero by 2041, 

split by priority area. Retrofit was used as the example: e.g. how many houses 

would we complete each year? What are the costs of doing so? What would 

the carbon savings be? Etc. 

• Role of procurement: this needs to be strengthened through the report as it is 

an important way for the public sector to drive change 

• More emphasis required on decarbonising energy production. 

• Reversal of damage to nature and ecosystems – broadening focus from 

biodiversity net gain to encompass active management and conservation.  

• Divestment from fossil fuels – particularly, but not exclusively, relating to the 

West Midlands Local Government Pension Fund. This is already in WM2041, 

but organisations wanted to emphasise it. 

Page 44



 
 

• More emphasis on embodied carbon, particularly in construction.  

• More ambition around transport plans and investment into them – where is it 

coming from and what are the priorities? 

 

Opportunities 

• Be more explicit about links with flagship infrastructure projects, particularly 

how we will work to influence projects like the Commonwealth Games, Coventry 

City of Culture and HS2.  

• Identify opportunities around hydrogen and hydrogen fuel cells. 

• How to maximise the opportunities around skills in low carbon industries.  

 

There was almost no discussion of challenges and barriers, possibly because these 

have been well-rehearsed in the past and were covered within the report. Partners 

appear confident that these are not just words, so the focus in responses was focused 

on enabling and accelerating change. 

 

Accountability and governance 

• There needs to be greater clarity about powers and where they sit – for 

example, what sits with the WMCA, what powers sit with the local authorities. 

The reality is that there is significant overlap in these powers, and leadership is 

often created by where resources are funnelled to, so is therefore subject to 

change. However, the five year delivery plans will be an opportunity to provide 

some clarity with regards to delivery in this space.  

• Need to build a partnership across ALL sectors this will require us to think 

carefully about the governance for delivery and what it should look like. 

• Need annual reporting to understand how we are progressing against a range 

of measures – not just carbon. 

 

Citizen engagement 

Nothing conclusive came from the organisational responses, but this has been 

considered in a broader sense via the wider public consultation and the work led by 

The Democratic Society (summarised above). 

 

Big ideas 

As well as the responses to our specific questions on the plan, and the introduction of 

additional actions that we might want to consider, some of the organisations came 

forward with strategic enhancements that should form part of the next steps: 

• We should include Scope 1, 2 and 3 emissions in the plan 

• Clarify the role of local authorities in meeting the WM2041 target 

• Be clear on financing 

• Develop an action plan 

 

Additional actions 

In addition to some of the high-level ideas and thinking, there were some more specific 

suggestions made for inclusion into the WM2041 climate plan. The action WMCA 

Page 45



 
 

takes will now be bundled into the fiver-year delivery plans and these will be 

considered as part of that process. 

• Ban diesel gen-sets in the city centre due to their well-known and unpopular 

emissions 

• Do we need some type of Environment Infrastructure Levy? 

• Embed environmental requirements into the Single Commissioning Framework 

• Use data from the Nature Recovery Network to guide decision-making. 

• Reference local assets - e.g. Black Country Geopark due to receive UNESCO 

approval 

• Explore how to decarbonise historic buildings. 

• Ban car idling – should be put in place by WMCA and enforced by local 

authorities 

• Zero emission taxis and buses should be supported within the 5 years 

timescale, particularly in the cities and larger towns, in respect of CAZ 

requirements. 

• Need more on decarbonisation of heat, localised energy and renewables 

• Be clear on measures to support the supply chain 

• Identify alternative fuels for larger vehicles 

• Consider e-bikes – their role and how we accommodate them 

• Provide training and information for planners on devolved energy, energy 

storage etc 

• Include the role of the sharing economy 

Page 46



 
 

Appendix 2: The elements of the 5-year action plans 

 

 

Page 47



This page is intentionally left blank



Environment Board
Date 25 June 2020

Report title Energy Transition

Portfolio Lead Councillor Ian Courts - Environment, Energy &
HS2

Accountable Chief
Executive

Deborah Cadman, West Midlands Combined
Authority
email: deborah.cadman@wmca.org.uk
tel: (0121) 214 7200

Accountable
Employee 

Ed Cox, Director of Public Service Reform
email: ed.cox@wmca.org.uk
tel: 07788 224179

Cheryl Hiles, Director of Energy Capital
email: cheryl.hiles@wmca.org.uk
tel: 07814 972921

The Environment Board is recommended to:

(1) Recognise the role of energy infrastructure as a foundation of clean economic 
growth in the West Midlands and in supporting the region’s recovery and 
decarbonisation objectives at the lowest cost to the region.

(2) Endorse Energy Capital to seek external funding for the projects identified in this 
paper, to address energy infrastructure issues in the region equitably.

(3) Encourage the WMCA to engage with BEIS on energy devolution and seek its 
inclusion as part of the forthcoming White Paper on Devolution or any other 
appropriate initiatives including the ‘Distributed Level Future Energy Scenarios’ 
process, regulated by OFGEM, in support of the region’s growth and 
decarbonisation plans.

Page 49

Agenda Item 6



(4) Approve Energy Capital to work with the wider WMCA team to secure investment 
into a revolving financial mechanism to support green infrastructure investment.

Page 50



1. Purpose 

1.1 The purpose of this paper is to highlight the need to ensure that the region’s energy 
infrastructure can enable the delivery of a net zero West Midlands by 2041, as part of the 
WMCA Climate Change Delivery Plan. 

2. Background 

2.1 In June 2018, the SED Board1 formally tasked Energy Capital with responsibility for:

 delivering the targets set out in the Regional Energy Strategy2

 delivering the recommendations of the Mayor’s Regional Energy Policy Commission3

 leading partnerships and project development to co-ordinate the energy sector 
contribution to the local industrial strategy

 leading energy related activities on behalf of the WMCA.

2.2 Current priorities include:

 Delivering the West Midland's share of national and global carbon budgets
 Ensuring our regional energy infrastructure puts the region at the leading edge of the 

global energy and transport systems transition, through energy innovation zones
 Keeping energy costs for our strategic industries competitive.

2.3 Since 2018, Energy Capital has been working on the priorities above through a variety of 
projects. In June 2020, WM2041: a programme for implementing an environmental 
recovery was endorsed by the Combined Authority Board. This report contained a 
recommendation that Energy Capital would bring a paper to the June Environment Board 
concerning regional energy infrastructure, with details of the devolved powers needed by 
the Combined Authority to ensure OFGEM consider the needs of the regions in their 
network planning cycles, within Energy Innovation Zones.

2.4 Evidence to date has led to the following working hypothesis: Energy infrastructure 
costs and investment mechanisms are a barrier to regional economic growth in the 
West Midlands, particularly our ambitions for a green and equitable recovery.

2.5 Explanation of the problem:

 A green economic recovery is reliant on our energy system’s ability to respond to the 
changing demand that decarbonisation necessitates. 

 The energy system is managed nationally, and currently no one is representing the 
interests of city regions. There is already evidence from local projects that investment 
is not being made into parts of the region’s electricity infrastructure to enable business 
growth and the net zero transition across the region4. 

1 September 2017 SED Board Minutes
2 https://www.energycapital.org.uk/a-regional-energy-strategy-for-the-west-midlands/
3 https://www.energycapital.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2018/03/powering-west-midlands-growth-regional-energy-policy-
commission-report-2018.pdf 
4 Design of a Zero Carbon Energy Infrastructure Finance Mechanism for the Black Country; Repowering the Black Country – a 
BEIS funded industrial cluster decarbonisation project; The VPACH project, an Innovate UK funded project led by TfWM to 
install on-street electrical vehicle charging points using Virgin

Page 51

https://www.energycapital.org.uk/a-regional-energy-strategy-for-the-west-midlands/
https://www.energycapital.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2018/03/powering-west-midlands-growth-regional-energy-policy-commission-report-2018.pdf
https://www.energycapital.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2018/03/powering-west-midlands-growth-regional-energy-policy-commission-report-2018.pdf


 Energy Innovation Zones5 have been pioneered in the West Midlands around these 
hotspots to provide a framework to address these issues, and Energy Capital is 
currently working with BEIS to provide a definition and guidance on their 
development6. 

 Energy infrastructure is funded through 5 yearly price control mechanisms overseen 
by Ofgem. Ofgem’s failure to account for regional differences mean individual 
customers in the West Midlands are increasingly facing business-model-destroying 
connection charges, through the ‘next in the queue’ funding mechanism, resulting in 
land sterilisation; the stalling of projects requiring grid connections; or infrastructure 
only being provided in areas where markets are strong, resulting in the unequitable 
provision of services and facilities.

 Under existing arrangements, many of the region’s plans to regenerate brownfield 
sites, install electric vehicle charging facilities, retrofit properties and install heat 
pumps to decarbonise businesses or industry, will have their business models 
undermined and timescales delayed significantly by unexpected, excessive electricity 
network connection charges.

Our proposed solution

2.6 Our aim is to instigate a process with Western Power Distribution (WPD), which is 
recognised by OFGEM, to demonstrate how greater regional understanding and 
governance of energy infrastructure in the West Midlands can enable a green and 
equitable recovery in the West Midlands and support the national energy system’s 
path to net zero.

2.7 In order make any difference over the next 6 years, we need to influence the upcoming 
price control mechanism. This means starting to work with, and influence WPD and 
Ofgem during the summer of 2020, when Ofgem will publish its sector specific guidance 
for RIIO2 /ED2 on how anticipatory investment will be addressed.

2.8 It is proposed that Energy Capital leads a Regional Energy Transition Pilot with WPD to:

 achieve a deeper level of engagement for the West Midlands on the Distribution Level 
Future Energy Scenarios (DFES) process which WPD is currently carrying out. 

 support our local authorities to understand how their key strategic development plans 
in the West Midlands will impact on the energy network and translate development 
plans and objectives into energy infrastructure requirements in the context of the 
emerging Energy Innovation Zones.

 support the UK’s first EIZ pilot to achieve ‘active’ status to demonstrate how the 
process can be used to overcome barriers to development and decarbonisation.

 use our learnings into influence national energy infrastructure planning processes.

5 https://www.energycapital.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2018/03/powering-west-midlands-growth-regional-energy-policy-
commission-report-2018.pdf
6 The definition and supporting guidance is due to be published at the end of June 2020

Page 52

https://www.energycapital.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2018/03/powering-west-midlands-growth-regional-energy-policy-commission-report-2018.pdf
https://www.energycapital.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2018/03/powering-west-midlands-growth-regional-energy-policy-commission-report-2018.pdf


 work with the Black Country to take forward the recommendations of the Enzen report 
to establish a revolving financial mechanism to channel investment into areas which 
do not make Ofgem’s cut into the national energy infrastructure plan. This revolving 
fund will reduce energy costs to the key UK manufacturing base in the Black Country, 
as well as other regional businesses, securing jobs. It will also enable private sector 
investment to be leveraged and channelled into regional energy infrastructure and 
can be rolled out across the region and across other WMCA investment programmes 
via this Board.

 WMCA endorsement, support from Local Authority cabinet members, and the Mayor 
as a spokesman for our learning on this will significantly improve our chances of 
success. 

Outcomes

2.9 The outputs of this process will enable us to:

 make an evidence-based case for anticipatory investment in key areas of the West 
Midlands through the RIIO2 price control process. 

 secure acknowledgement from BEIS and OFGEM of the value of the democratic 
accountability of EIZ’s and the benefit of engaging bodies such as Energy Capital as 
representatives of the strategic needs of the customer in these areas. 

 have clear visibility of what the local and regional plans for economic recovery and 
decarbonisation look like and a clear understanding of where infrastructure. 
investment will be needed to enable these to be delivered over time.

2.10 Energy Capital would also like to work with the wider WMCA to secure investment into a 
revolving financial mechanism which will:

 enable the costs of ‘next in the queue’ network upgrades to be shared and repaid 
over time, where anticipatory funding is not secured through the price control 
mechanism.

2.11 In summary, Energy Capital plans to seek resources to undertake:

 A Regional Energy Transition Pilot to undertake a strategic energy planning process 
and engage in the RIIO2/ ED2 price control mechanism process 

 Develop 1 EIZ pilot to ‘active’ status, (Rugeley, Black Country, UK Central or Coventry 
and Warwickshire) following on from existing funding from BEIS to define the process 
of establishing an EIZ

 Seed a revolving infrastructure investment fund to unlock existing sites identified in 
the Black Country. 

3. Financial Implications 

3.1 Positive. Any funding Energy Capital secures to deliver these proposals will reduce the 
current financial burden of Energy Capital on the WMCA7 and increase their impact.

7 Energy Capital is currently seed funded through the 2019 Investment Programme to a maximum value of £500k.

Page 53



3.2 Energy Capital needs to ensure sufficient capacity and expertise to undertake this work. 
They are seeking funding from Government to support this proposal and also from 
Western Power Distribution to support of the RIIO2 engagement process.

4. Legal Implications 

4.1 None at this stage.

5. Equalities Implications (*)

5.1 This initiative will seek to address Ofgem’s failure to account for regional differences 
which has left individual customers in the region facing business-model-destroying 
connection charges through the ‘next in the queue’ funding mechanism; resulting in land 
sterilisation, the stalling of projects requiring grid connections, or infrastructure only being 
provided in areas where markets are strong, resulting in the unequitable provision of 
services and facilities for our citizens and an unequitable transition.

6. Inclusive Growth Implications

 This intervention is key to a rapid economic recovery, as it will ensure that economic 
growth plans are not stifled by the lack of supporting infrastructure. It will achieve 
this through socialised or reduced connection charges, which will lessen the financial 
burden on businesses already facing major repercussions caused by the COVID19 
pandemic.  

 Extrapolating figures from the Enzen report suggests a credible figure for jobs 
safeguarded per £1m of infrastructure investment would be @54. 

 Under existing arrangements, many of the region’s plans to regenerate brownfield 
sites, install electric vehicle charging facilities, install heat pumps to decarbonise 
businesses or industry, will have their business models undermined and timescales 
delayed significantly by unexpected, excessive grid connection charges. 

 Levelling up – The national energy system will prioritise investment in supporting 
energy infrastructure where OFGEM believes investments will take place first – this is 
generally where land prices and consumer demand are highest, disadvantaging the 
West Midlands.

 In addition, the current price control processes require DNO’s (Cadent and WPD) to 
make one submission on behalf of their whole geography. The West Midlands is once 
again disadvantaged because of this approach. Giving the region a voice in the 
process, will enable the West Midlands to represent both political ambition (which our 
democratic system can hold our leaders to account on) and collective 
business needs (not currently represented because they are too small) through 
the price control mechanism.  

7. Geographical Area of Report’s Implications

7.1 This work will cover the whole WMCA region, with an investment focus on unlocking 
problems already identified, the majority of which are in the Black Country.

Page 54



8. Other Implications

N/A

9. Schedule of Background Papers

None

Page 55



Appendix 1

Explanation of current energy network planning processes 

Currently energy networks plan their infrastructure investment following an approach set out by 
Ofgem. Broadly they:

 use the Distribution level Future-Energy-Scenarios (DFES) process to consider what the 
demands of customers might be:

 review what different scenarios will mean for the network and based on that, propose a 
baseline of investment that is definitely needed and some way of increasing that spending 
if, for example, EV growth is faster than that baseline

 Ofgem then reviews whether the planned approach and spending of customer money is 
“well justified”.

The DFES process involves looking at local authority data and ‘consults’ with lots of 
stakeholders. Ofgem expects strong evidence of this. However, there is no statutory requirement 
for DNOs or Ofgem to respond to Mayoral Authorities or expert bodies within them, like Energy 
Capital. Independent experts have recommended a regional governance structure to address 
this, that sets out what regional energy infrastructure requirements are for the networks to plan 
to support. 

The Energy Systems Catapult has also proposed local area energy plans as a mechanism for 
agreeing local energy infrastructure requirements that the networks would then plan for, which 
would cost BEIS @ £100million to take forward and still not address the issues raised above. 
We are therefore proposing to build on the existing DFES mechanism and enable greater and 
deeper engagement with local stakeholders.

Why the West Midlands

The groundwork has already been prepared by the Energy Capital partnership, we have a strong 
evidence base and can mobilise very quickly:  

 If funded this work can be mobilised immediately, as Energy Capital is up and running 
and ready to undertake this work with local LEP’s if government will support the process, 
providing existing evidence immediately. 

 In the coming 12 months we will be able to: 
 feed into the RIIO2/ED2 process, feeding evidence in immediately 
 support local areas to look in more detail at their key development plans in the 

West Midlands which will impact on the energy network and translate these 
development plans and objectives into energy infrastructure requirements and set 
these into the context of the emerging Energy Innovation Zones  

 implement the recommendations of the Black Country Enzen report and establish 
a revolving financial mechanism to channel investment into areas which do not 
make Ofgem’s cut into the national energy infrastructure plan.  

 This will in turn: 
 support the UK’s first EIZ pilot to achieve ‘active’ status 
 input learnings into national processes including the Energy Systems Catapult 

local area energy planning approach in future 

Page 56



The West Midlands are already leading the UK on the development of Energy Innovation Zones, 
working with BEIS. The current work on defining EIZs and the process for their development is 
due to be completed by Energy Capital in June 2020. Recommendations include BEIS fund a 
series of pilot EIZs to active status to demonstrate how the process can unlock energy 
infrastructure barriers.

Our DNO’s (WPD and Cadent) are already engaged and fully supportive of this work and have 
signed a letter to the BEIS permanent secretary in February 2020, recommending this 
approach.  It is therefore highly likely that we will be able to leverage match funding for this 
work to maximise its impact. 

This issue is being debated nationally, and the region has the opportunity to position itself at the 
forefront of this debate and ensure that our long-term growth ambitions are facilitated. 

The West Midlands is likely to be the largest area outside London that will be heavily reliant on 
the electrification of much of its energy requirements in order to decarbonise its buildings, 
transport systems and industry. This is an important aspect of the levelling up agenda, enabling 
a healthier city region to emerge from the COVID19 crisis. 

This work is in line with the priorities of the 2018 policy commission Powering the West Midlands; 
the Regional Energy Strategy; and the #WM2041 Climate Change Strategy delivery plan as well 
as plans for a green and equitable recovery from COVID19.

Benefits that will accrue from this work

 Speed up the region’s ability to grow and decarbonise, through a deeper 
understanding and a route to address areas where energy infrastructure could inhibit the 
achievement of equitable green growth ambitions  

 Support the region’s businesses to achieve their growth and decarbonisation ambitions 
to continue to compete internationally. Enabling energy infrastructure development at 
lower cost than at present can make the industries more competitive in international 
markets, especially when compared to those in continental Europe with subsidised 
energy costs. 

 Infrastructure stimulus can lead to an increased output from developers, installers (‘direct 
effects’), which may in turn stimulate the demand for goods from suppliers down (‘indirect 
effect’) thus adding to the local economy (GVA) and creating further employment 
opportunities. 

 The finance model can be enhanced to include other utility connections (such as fibre) 
which could result in wider gains, avoidance of unnecessary network reinforcement and 
save cost and disruption. 

 Investing in distributed energy resources could result in lower energy costs for homes 
and businesses through more efficient local energy use. 

 It can help to realise energy decarbonisation targets 
 Economic development can be achieved through more competitive local businesses and 

new jobs in the distributed energy supply chain. 

Page 57



Budget

The budget approved by the Energy Capital Board in September 2019 is based on this project 
covering all of the Energy Capital team costs, so could be reduced if organisational costs are 
covered through other mechanisms: 

Output Input Cost Leverage
Shared investment in 
energy infrastructure 
upgrades

Revolving fund 
mechanism

Seed funding of up 
to £40m

Private sector 
finance up to 
£60m

An active EIZ to 
overcome specific 
energy infrastructure 
issues in the region

Pilot working with all 
stakeholders involved

£300-500k 
depending on which 
EIZ is taken forward

Cost benefit ratio 
of 1.28: 1

West Midlands needs 
reflected in the 
RIIO2/ED2 price 
control agreement

18 month deployment 
of expert energy team 
based within Energy 
Capital in the WMCA, 
supporting all LEP 
areas 

 Energy policy team
 Energy investment 

commercial team
 Technical energy 

infrastructure team
 Energy Capital 

director and 
support officer 

 Local area energy 
planning mapping 
process

Costs include all 
overheads and 
programme expenses.

£250k
£300k

£750k

£300k

£500k

Overall, it is estimated that 
just within the Black 
Country there is currently 
a pipeline of some 40 to 
50 new business 
developments annually 
that seek electricity 
distribution connections 
which are constrained by 
the availability and cost of 
electricity network 
connection infrastructure. 
The overall cost of this 
infrastructure is estimated 
at between £50-100m. The 
economic benefit to the 
region of these new 
business developments is 
expected to far outweigh 
these connection costs8.

8 Design of a Zero Carbon Energy Infrastructure Finance Mechanism for the Black Country, Enzen 2019

Page 58



Environment Board
Date 25 June 2020

Report title WM2041: Introduction to Circular Economy 
Project

Portfolio Lead Councillor Ian Courts - Environment, Energy &
HS2

Accountable Chief
Executive

Deborah Cadman, West Midlands Combined
Authority
email: deborah.cadman@wmca.org.uk
tel: (0121) 214 7200

Accountable
Employee 

Ed Cox, Director of Public Service Reform
email: ed.cox@wmca.org.uk
tel: 07788 224179

Jackie Homan, Head of Environment
email: jacqueline.homan@wmca.org.uk
tel: 07584 449339

Recommendation(s) for action or decision:

The Environment Board is recommended to:

(1) Agree to the next steps in the production of the WM Circular Economy Routemap 
as detailed within the report.

(2) Identify any stakeholders critical to include in the workshops and Taskforce.

Page 59

Agenda Item 8



1. Purpose 

1.1 This paper provides an overview of the upcoming work on holding workshops with key 
stakeholders, forming a Task Force and producing a Circular Economy Routemap for the 
WM. 

2. Background 

2.1 In June 2019, WMCA declared a climate emergency. In July 2019, the CA Board received
a paper from the Tyndall Centre outlining the trajectory that would be necessary in order 
to reach net zero carbon emissions by 2041. This work includes two interim carbon budgets 
of 36% reduction by 2022 and 69% reduction by 2027. The focus is on rapid transition 
towards a zero-carbon future where action must be ‘front-loaded’. The report also indicated 
that if urgent action is not taken, the WMCA will use up its entire carbon budget within 6 
years.

2.2 In June 2020, WMCA approved “WM2041: A Programme for Implementing an 
Environmental Recovery” which sets out the urgent activity and need for the WMCA and 
stakeholders to produce five-year delivery plans (four in total) with targets, to include 
interim carbon budgets and other metrics in support of delivering the zero carbon target for 
the West Midlands by 2041.   

2.3 The urgent activity included the need to establish a Circular Economy Taskforce for the 
West Midlands and produce a Routemap to identify the possible benefits from a circular 
economy approach for the region, as well as the priorities to begin a local movement across 
different sectors and how this can be scaled up over time.

2.4 Rather than depend on linear and extractive processes, circular economy encourages 
repair, reuse and regeneration. As resource productivity is maximised, waste streams are 
redirected, pushing the economy towards a closed-loop, zero waste system. This is further 
coupled with a transition to renewable energy, allowing the circular economy concept to 
redefine growth and build economic, natural, and social capital.

2.5 A Routemap would enable us to explore alternative business models such as incentivised 
return, leasing and sharing. A similar Routemap completed for the London Waste and 
Recycling Board indicates that by 2036, the circular economy could provide London with 
net benefits of at least £7bn every year and 40,000 new jobs (12,000 net additional jobs) 
in the areas of re-use, remanufacturing and materials innovation.

2.6 We do not know what and where the current opportunities are in the West Midlands, but 
there is likely economic advantage and potential to create jobs. The Routemap would help 
us understand this better. 

2.7 In order to produce the Routemap it is proposed to hold an online stakeholder workshop 
and bring together a Task Force.

2.8 A briefing note will be shared ahead of an online workshop with stakeholders (July-August 
2020) to help form the Task Force (September 2020) that will oversee the completion of a 
draft (December 2020) and launch of the WM Circular Economy Routemap (Jan/Feb 
2021).

Page 60



Phase 1:  
Workshops

• July - August 
2020

Phase 2: Set up 
Task Force

• September 2020

Phase 3: Draft 
Routemap

• December 2020

Phase 4: Final 
Routemap

• February 2021 

3. Outputs and Scope

3.1 A series of outputs will be produced during the completion of this project which will 
conclude with the publication of the Routemap in early 2021. 

 Workshop Findings Report

 Memorandum of Understanding for a WM Circular Economy Task Force

 WM Circular Economy Routemap, including but not limited to:
o City Scans – what resources flow in and out of cities and the region
o Live circular economy case studies 
 Cross sector approaches
 Public sector vs private sector approaches
 Different approaches within e.g. SME, corporates
o Circular Economy Principles that LA’s can adopt 
 Alignment with local waste strategies, procurement plans, business programmes
o A phased approach to scaling the circular economy – e.g.: 
 Phase 1 – Getting started – engagement and demonstrators
 Phase 2 - Ensuring continuity – platforms / knowledge share / direct business 

engagement and delivery
 Phase 3 - Mainstreaming the circular economy at scale
o Networks and ambassadors
o Communications plan

3.2 The report will also outline the criteria that will help to determine the delivery and maturity 
of the circular economy in the overall WM economy, including: 

- Financial impact 
- Jobs created in different sectors
- Tonnes of waste prevented/repair/reused/recycled/recovered/treated
- Carbon saved
- Business to business engagement – levels of communications, interactions, 

collaborations.
- New policy and project alignment, e.g. with energy from waste projects

4. Project Development

4.1 Lead Responsibility

a. The production of the Routemap will be the managed by the WMCA Environment 
Team. The local authority Low Carbon Officers Group will also have a key role to 
play. 

Page 61



b. The work will require externally commissioned consultancy support to produce the 
outputs listed above. It is envisaged that this could cost between £40-50,000 but this 
will be confirmed in the full project plan. We will be seeking resource and contributions 
from Task Force members to minimise WMCA spend on completion of the Routemap. 

4.2 Stakeholder engagement

Successful delivery will depend on the engagement of stakeholders with an interest in 
the circular economy and close collaboration with local authorities and their existing 
networks. 

 Lead – WMCA. We are in dialogue with the West Midlands Circular Economy Club to 
understand the potential for collaboration given their existing network.

 Supporting – local authorities, local businesses from a range of sectors, Chambers 
of Commerce, LEPs, national government (DEFRA), waste management groups, 
universities. 

 Sectors - construction, manufacturing, fashion, engineering, waste (closed loop 
waste management), food and drink.

5. Governance 

5.1 The circular economy work will report to the Energy and Environment Board and any 
recommendations from the report including future governance that need to be in place to 
make us effective, in terms of democratic legitimacy, regional collaboration and overall 
pace and delivery, will be subject to their approval. 

6. Cost to Deliver

6.1 The production of the Circular Economy Routemap including the workshops and Task 
Force is envisaged to cost approximately £40,000 including consultancy support to 
produce the outputs detailed above. We will be seeking resource and contributions from 
Task Force members to minimise WMCA spend on completion of the Routemap.

7. Tasks and Milestones

7.1 The stages and timescales for the work are outlined below. A full delivery plan will be 
produced as part of project scoping. Estimated target dates have been included below 
and will be updated as part of the formal Project Plan. 

Project Stage Includes Estimated Target Date
Project Scoping Produce full project plan End June 2020

Online briefing, workshop with 
breakout sessions. 

July – August 2020

Workshops Produce brief report that 
outlines the findings of the 
workshop to lead into the Task 
Force and Routemap. 

August 2020

Task Force

Establish a Memorandum of 
Understanding and confirm 
Task Force members, Chair, 
and hold the first meeting.

September 2020

Page 62



Produce specification of 
support required with relevant 
internal and external 
stakeholder input

September 2020 (for Task 
Force input)Consultancy 

Support 
specification and 
tender(s) Appoint consultants to provide 

support
October 2020

Stakeholder mapping (part of 
project plan and ongoing)

June 2020 – October 2020Stakeholder 
Engagement Local Authority Working Group Ongoing
Draft Produce draft Routemap November 2020
Final Document Produce final Routemap January - February 2021

Briefing to Environment Board 
for update

June 2020
September 2020Briefings and 

Approvals Environment Board for 
approval

Jan/Feb 2021

Plan for launch December 2020Launch and 
Comms Launch Routemap February 2021 - potential 

alignment with FYP launch

8. Risks

8.1 The current risks in completing the project are currently defined at a high level as:

Risks Likelihood Impact Mitigation
Lack of stakeholder 
engagement and buy-in 
results in poor and 
disjointed Routemap

Low High A comprehensive stakeholder 
engagement plan will be 
produced which will use 
established networks

Routemap not finished by 
start of 2021 due to 
complexity and amount of 
work required 

Medium Medium Project plan will break down 
tasks, ownership and 
timescales required. It will be 
monitored and risks reported.

Budget is insufficient to 
deliver outputs of 
Routemap

Low High Specification will be 
developed and shared for 
views internally before 
publishing. We will seek input 
and contributions from key 
stakeholders

9. Financial Implications 

9.1 It is envisaged that the production of the Circular Economy Routemap including the 
workshops and Task Force will cost between £40-50,000. 

10. Legal Implications 

10.1 There are no legal implications as part of the production of the Routemap. Any legal I
implications will be presented as part of the approval of the Routemap.

Page 63



11. Equalities Implications

11.1 There are no equalities implications as a result of the production of the Routemap. Any 
equalities implications will be presented as part of the approval of the Routemap.

12. Inclusive Growth Implications

12.1 There are no inclusive growth implications as a result of the production of the Routemap. 
Any inclusive growth implications will be presented as part of the approval of the 
Routemap.

13. Geographical Area of Report’s Implications

13.1 The core work of the FYP will cover constituent local authorities of the West Midlands 
Combined Authority. However, parts of the programme will also encompass other parts 
of the WMCA/ West Midlands geography.

14. Other Implications

None. 

15. Schedule of Background Papers
WM2041: A Programme for Implementing an Environmental Recovery

Page 64



Environment Board
Date 25 June 2020

Report title WM2041 - Five Year Plans

Portfolio Lead Councillor Ian Courts - Environment, Energy &
HS2

Accountable Chief
Executive

Deborah Cadman, West Midlands Combined
Authority
email: deborah.cadman@wmca.org.uk
tel: (0121) 214 7200

Accountable
Employee 

Ed Cox, Director of Public Service Reform
email: ed.cox@wmca.org.uk
tel: 07788 224179

Jackie Homan, Head of Environment
email: jacqueline.homan@wmca.org.uk
tel: 07584 449339

Recommendation(s) for action or decision:

The Environment Board is recommended to:

(1) Approve the next steps as detailed within paragraph 6.

(2) Agree the timetable for the Five-Year Plans

Page 65

Agenda Item 10



1. Purpose 

1.1 This paper provides an overview of the upcoming work on a Five Year Plan (FYP) to 
begin to deliver on the WM2041 ambitions for the West Midlands.

2. Background
 
2.1 In June 2019, WMCA declared a climate emergency. In July 2019, the CA Board received 

a paper from the Tyndall Centre outlining the trajectory that would be necessary in order 
to reach net zero carbon emissions by 2041. This work includes two interim carbon 
budgets of 36% reduction by 2022 and 69% reduction by 2027. The focus is on rapid 
transition towards a zero-carbon future where action must be ‘front-loaded’. The report 
also indicated that if urgent action is not taken, the WMCA will use up its entire carbon 
budget within 6 years.

2.2 In June 2020, WMCA approved “WM2041: A Programme for Implementing an 
Environmental Recovery” which sets out the urgent activity and need for the WMCA and 
stakeholders to produce five-year delivery plans (four in total) with targets, to include 
interim carbon budgets and other metrics in support of delivering the zero carbon target 
for the West Midlands by 2041.  

2.3 The first Five Year Plan (FYP) will: 

(a) Provide an evidence based spatial plan, linking up potential delivery projects 
and investments and group them into type / location across the WM region to 
ensure an efficient, cost-effective and prioritised approach to WM2041 delivery; 

(b) Create a common vision for stakeholders with a strategic plan, policies and 
outline practical devolution opportunities;

(c) Outline different routes to delivery and where this will be led 
by communities, local authorities, the combined authority, the private sector, or 
a mixture; 

(d) Outline the funding sources, financing and investment to deliver the FYP; 

(e) Represent a step change in the way the region works together to deliver against 
environmental priorities for an inclusive, prosperous and fair transition to 
a net zero carbon emissions society and economy.  

2.4 The cycle of Five-Year Plans to support delivery of WM2041 carbon target of zero carbon 
by 2041 are covered below with carbon emissions reduction targets as follows, based on 
a 2016 baseline:

- 36% reduction by 2022
- 69% carbon reduction by 2027

Page 66



2.5 The FYP will need to build on the previous Tyndall Centre work in WM2041 to estimate 
the impact that actions will have on the carbon emissions of the WM region, factoring in 
efforts at the local, regional and national levels. 

 FYP Outputs and Scope

The WM2041 Five Year Plan (2021-26) will include:

a) A technical and spatial evidence base of existing activity. This will build on the work 
of local authority carbon plans, the existing Tyndall centre work for WM2041. We are not 
beginning from a standing start and there is already much happening on tackling climate 
change across the region. There will be significant value in gaining an holistic view of 
similar project types and place-based solutions already in either concept or delivery phases 
as this will enable a more co-ordinated approach to delivery.

b) Priority actions and investment opportunities. These will emerge from the above 
evidence base and existing activities. This will build on the current WM2041 work and 
inform the critical part of the FYP around financing and delivery. It will also provide, for the 
first time, the scale of investment required in different sectors, technologies and/or delivery 
opportunities, on a region-wide basis. The projects will cover projects related to housing 
(e.g. retrofit and standards for new builds); transport (e.g. active travel); energy (e.g. 
electric vehicle charging infrastructure); resource efficiency (e.g. delivering circular 
economy projects); and communications and behaviour change campaigns.

c) Finance and resource delivery overview. How much do the actions in the FYP cost? 
How will the delivery be financed? What are the delivery functions – do they exist or do 
new ones need to be established? What level of maturity are the existing functions to take 
on the FYP pace and scale of delivery? How could delivery be done most efficiently and 
cost-effectively across the WMCA region? 

d) Carbon budget accounting. What will be the impact of the delivery of the FYP on the 
carbon budget that the WMCA has set to achieve zero carbon emissions by 2041?

e) Stakeholders and governance. How will the WM2041 FYP be managed and delivered, 
what governance and reporting will ensure it is held to account by WMCA and partners?

f) Communications Plan. The FYP will have an overall communications plan and each 
programme of work will require specific communications for different audiences depending 

Page 67



on their required input or participation to ensure delivery. Behaviour change campaigns will 
also form an important part of this work.

3. Writing the FYP

3.1 Lead Responsibility

 The production of the FYP will be the managed by the WMCA Environment Team, with 
input and support from an internal WMCA cross-Directorate Working Group. The local 
authority Low Carbon Officers Group will also have a key role to play.

 The FYP will require externally commissioned consultancy support to produce the outputs 
listed below. It is envisaged that this could cost around £80,000, but this will be confirmed 
in the full project plan.

3.2 Stakeholder engagement

Successful delivery will depend on the engagement of all stakeholders and close 
collaboration with local authorities:

 Most local authorities in the region now have their own carbon reduction plans that will 
form an essential part of understanding the activity across the West Midlands and the 
FYP will group it into delivery activity. There will need to be a clear understanding of 
where the line is drawn at WMCA and local authority delivery responsibilities to avoid 
duplication and confusion. The FYPs should also be co-owned by local authorities and 
other regional partners.

 A facilitated meeting with Leaders and Chief Executives will take place as part of building 
collaboration and coordination around strategy and delivery. We need to make sure that 
everyone is on board with the delivery of WM2041 as a joint effort. This is particularly 
important given the shared nature of the actions. How much collaboration do local 
authorities want to pursue? How joined up should the delivery approaches need to be? 
What efficiencies could be realised through joined up delivery? 

3.3 Wider engagement will also be required to build an ongoing programme with the people 
of the region. Early indications from the WM2041 consultation are that this will need to 
include both intensive involvement in shaping the agenda and around particular 
programmes of activity, but also ongoing information, advice and guidance relating to the 
overall agenda and specific projects within that. External engagement will include: 

o Delivery organisations – e.g. utilities, other public bodies, private sectorPage 68



o Active participants and allies – e.g. those already engaged on environment agenda and 
working with WMCA

o Passive / opposers – e.g. those not yet engaged but important to delivery

4. Governance 

4.1 The FYP will put forward proposals for the governance arrangements that need to be in 
place to make us effective, in terms of democratic legitimacy, regional collaboration and 
overall pace and delivery.

4.2 It is envisaged that delivery of the activity in the FYP will be the responsibility of existing 
and new groups and delivery functions. Transport and mobility projects already have 
mature governance and delivery arrangements, whereas delivery functions for the type 
of energy and retrofit actions that are required. New ways of working and delivering are 
therefore required.

5. Cost to Deliver

5.1 The production of the FYP will cost approximately £80,000 including consultancy support 
to produce the outputs detailed above. Other strands of work already underway will feed 
into this. 

6. Delivery Plan for the FYP - Tasks and Milestones

6.1 The below areas will make up the delivery of the FYP. A full delivery plan will be produced 
as part of project scoping. Estimated target dates have been included below and will be 
updated as part of the formal Project Plan. 

Project Stage Includes Estimated Target Date
Produce full project plan End June 2020

Project Scoping Sign off Project Plan from 
internal WMCA Group

Early July 2020

Produce specification of 
support required with relevant 
internal and external 
stakeholder input

July 2020

FYP support 
specification and 
tender(s) Appoint consultants to provide 

support
August 2020

Stakeholder mapping (part of 
project plan)

Mid-June 2020

Local Authority Working Group Ongoing
LA CX and Leaders Forum October 2020

Stakeholder 
Engagement

External engagement October 2020 
Draft Produce draft FYP November 2020
Final Document Produce final FYP January /February 2021

Internal Cross-Directorate 
Working Group

Ongoing

Briefing to Environment Board 
for update

September 2020Briefings and 
Approvals

Environment Board for update November 2020
Page 69



Environment Board for 
approval

January/ February 2021

Plan for launch December 2020Launch and 
Comms Launch FYP January / February 2021

7. Risks

7.1 The current risks in completing the FYP are currently defined at a high level as:

Risks Likelihood Impact Mitigation
Lack of stakeholder 
engagement and buy-in 
results in poor and 
disjointed FYP

Low High A comprehensive stakeholder 
engagement plan will be 
produced which will use 
established networks

FYP not finished by start 
of 2021 due to 
complexity and amount 
of work required 

Medium Medium Project plan will break down 
tasks, ownership and timescales 
required. It will be monitored and 
risks reported.

Budget is insufficient to 
deliver outputs of FYP 

Low High Specification will be developed 
and shared for views internally 
before publishing. 

8. Financial Implications 

8.1 It is envisaged that the production of the first Five Year Plan will cost approximately 
£80,000. 

9. Legal Implications 

9.1 There are no legal implications as part of the production of the first FYP. Any legal 
implications will be presented as part of the approval of the FYP.

10. Equalities Implications

10.1 There are no equalities implications as a result of the production of the FYP. Any 
equalities implications will be presented as part of the approval of the FYP.

11. Inclusive Growth Implications

11.1 We see the delivery of WM2041 as being very closely tied to the WMCA inclusive growth 
agenda; it will form a key part of the projects and programmes developed as part of the 
FYP. There are no inclusive growth implications as a result of the production of the FYP 
per se. 

12. Geographical Area of Report’s Implications

12.1 The core work of the FYP will cover constituent local authorities of the West Midlands 
Combined Authority. However, parts of the programme will also encompass other parts 
of the WMCA/ West Midlands geography. 

13. Other Implications Page 70



None. 

14. Schedule of Background Papers
WM2041: A Programme for Implementing an Environmental Recovery

Page 71



This page is intentionally left blank



Environment Board
Date 25 June 2020

Report title Environment Board Terms of Reference

Portfolio Lead Councillor Ian Courts - Environment, Energy & 
HS2

Accountable Chief
Executive

Deborah Cadman, West Midlands Combined 
Authority
email: deborah.cadman@wmca.org.uk
tel: (0121) 214 7200

Accountable
Employee 

Jacqueline Homan, Head of Environment
email: jacqueline.homan@wmca.org.uk
tel: 07584 449339

Recommendation(s) for action or decision:

The Environment Board is recommended to:

(1) Consider the future focus of the Environment Board, including agreeing the change 
of name to the Energy & Environment Board and reviewing Board membership.

(2) Note workstreams of Single Assurance Framework Project that have implications 
for Environment Board Terms of Reference

Page 73

Agenda Item 11



1. Purpose 

1.1 To consider the focus of the Environment Board as part of its annual review of its terms 
of reference.
 

1.2 To consider amendments to the terms of reference to ensure the Board is best able to 
fulfil its role.

2. Background 

2.1 The terms of reference for the Environment Board were last considered in September 
2018, a copy of the existing terms of reference agreed then is attached at Appendix A.

2.2 It has become clear that the synergies between the work on environment and energy 
mean that the Environment Board should now become the Energy and Environment 
Board, receiving updates and making decisions on the work on WM2041 (the WMCA’s 
climate change plan) as well as work undertaken by Energy Capital. Up until now, Energy 
Capital has only reported into the WMCA’s SED Board but much of their work aligns with 
WM2041, for example on retrofit, electric vehicle charging infrastructure and the regional 
energy transition. 

2.3 There is also opportunity to consider the membership on the Environment Board going 
forwards, considering other key stakeholders that should be part of the governance 
arrangements. There has been a request by the Environment Agency to join the Board, 
for example.

2.4 The discussion on the Terms of Reference needs to be had in the context of the ongoing 
work the WMCA is doing to develop a Single Assurance Framework (SAF). The SAF will 
provide a single set of systems, processes and protocols designed to provide an 
evidence-based and independent assessment of the governance, risk management, and 
control processes of the WMCA. 

2.5 As part of this work, core roles for all Thematic Boards are being developed. The intention 
is to provide a consistent role, purpose and approach across all the Boards to help drive 
effective, clear and accountable decision-making, ensure appropriate political oversight 
and support for Portfolio Leads and to support the intent to deliver a ‘Golden Thread’ from 
strategic objective through initiation, development, delivery and evaluation within the 
WMCA. 

2.6 The proposed SAF Core Roles are as follows:

1. Play a key role in developing and approve the Portfolio Annual Business Plan 
- ensuring that it demonstrates a clear ‘golden thread’ to the WMCA Annual Plan and 
strategic objectives, highlighting prioritisation considerations where appropriate and 
then supporting and challenging delivery.

2. Provide oversight of the Portfolio Project Pipeline - taking ownership of 
supporting and challenging the Lead Member on the pipeline and monitoring its 
content, providing feedback to Business Areas (but not instruction) and performance 
managing bids and project development.

Page 74



3. Advise on major policy change within Portfolio - Consider and advise upon major 
policy change within their thematic area, delivering expert stakeholder engagement 
and ensuring ownership and accountability.

4. Performance manage Portfolio project delivery - at thematic level (below 
strategic), ensuring effective and appropriate challenge

2.7 The SAF proposals also propose that the Thematic Board fulfils the following functions:

• Lead in developing an approach to future devolution of powers from Government to 
the region.

• Provide co-ordination and direction on strategic matters relating to the portfolio needs 
of the region.

• Provide the forum for facilitating strategic conversations between the local authorities, 
stakeholders and WMCA

2.8 In addition the work being developed through SAF is also proposing that Thematic Boards 
provide clear support and challenge to the WMCA Portfolio Lead through the following 
functions:

Support Portfolio Holders by:

• Providing advice and support to WMCA activity
• Helping engage with wider stakeholder networks and activity
• Identify and scale up existing good practice within the WMCA area
• Identify and secure resources to deliver new opportunities

2.9 Officers will be present at the Environment Board meeting to answer any questions 
regarding the SAF Project and implications for the Thematic Boards.

2.10 The SAF Project is due to report to WMCA Board on the 24 July with an enhanced 
Assurance Framework document and accompanying recommendations for 
improvements that will include Thematic Board proposals. 

3. Financial Implications 

3.1 The cost of supporting the Environment Board will come from within the WMCA.

4. Legal Implications 

4.1 None directly arising from this report.

5. Equalities Implications

5.1 None directly arising from this report

6. Inclusive Growth Implications

6.1 None directly arising from this report

Page 75



7. Geographical Area of Report’s Implications

7.1 None directly arising from this report

8. Other Implications

8.1 None directly arising from this report

9. Schedule of Background Papers

9.1 Appendix A – Existing Terms of Reference

Page 76



Appendix 1: Terms of Reference for the WMCA Environment Board

Purpose
To help the WMCA become ‘best in class’ in terms of the delivery of ‘clean, inclusive and resilient 
growth’.

Success will be measured by annual improvements in the independent sustainability benchmark 
of combined authorities and progress on the Strategic Economic Plan goals on carbon, 
renewable energy, fuel poverty, air quality, waste, the natural environment and the growth of the 
green business sector. 

The Board will provide advice and support to WMCA activity, helping engage with wider 
stakeholder networks and activity, identify and scale up existing good practice within the WMCA 
area, and identify and secure resources to deliver new opportunities.

Accountability

Accountable to the CA Board and Mayor and supported by the WMCA lead council CEO and 
WMCA Director with responsibility for environment. The Board also provides progress updates, 
advice and recommendations to other WMCA Committees.

Membership

Councillor - WMCA Portfolio Lead for the Environment 
Councillor – Cabinet member for Environment from each of the 7 constituent authorities 
Councillor – Up to 3 representatives of the sub-regional geography recommended from the non-
constituent group. 

Members of the WMCA Environment Advisory and Delivery Group may also attend in an 
advisory but non-decision making capacity. These are currently:

 WMCA Director (Patrick White), WMCA Local Authority CEO (Jan Britton)
 WMCA Interim Head of Environment (Simon Slater) – Workstream Environment Delivery 

Board and Action Plan, Strategy and Monitoring, Benchmarking and Reporting
 WMCA Strategic Assets Manager (Jemma Hodgson)– Workstream WMCA Internal 

Estates, Operations, Communications and Environmental Management
 Chair Energy Capital (Matthew Rhodes) Workstream Green Energy and Carbon 

Emissions
 Chair of WM Green Business Clubs Network (Andy Whyle) – Workstream Green 

Business 
 SHAP - Sustainable Housing Action Programme (Rosemary Coyne) – Workstream Green 

Buildings and Retrofit 
 Birmingham and Black Country Wildlife Trust (Georgia Stokes) – Workstream Natural 

Environment
 CENEX (Keith Budden) – Workstream Air Quality and Low Carbon Vehicle 
 Roy Stokes, Environment Agency (RS) – Representing ‘Defra Family’ of Forestry 

Commission & Natural England

Substitutes

Members of the Board can nominate one substitute to attend and act on their behalf, if they 
cannot attend. This needs to be agreed in advance with the Monitoring Officer.

Page 77



Chair

This will be the WMCA Portfolio Lead for the Environment.

Budgets and Voting

The Board will agree an annual work programme, which will be funded by the WMCA and 
partners, and progress reported to the Board.

Where possible recommendations will be reached by consensus, if a vote is required a majority 
of members is required. If there is a tie then Chair has the casting vote.

Quorum

There needs to be the WMCA Board Portfolio Lead and three other members.

Frequency

Three to four meetings a year. 

Servicing

The WMCA Governance team working with the WMCA Director and Head of Environment will 
support the Board in terms of agenda, papers, and minutes.

The WMCA Environment Board Advisory and Delivery Group (EADG) will also meet between 
Board meetings to help drive particular workstreams.

Functions

Develop and report progress on an annual delivery plan.
 
Action Plan workstreams are to include:

 Strategy, monitoring, benchmarking and reporting
 Internal estates, operations, communications and environmental management 
 Green Energy and carbon emissions
 Green Business and Finance
 Green Buildings and Retrofit
 Natural Environment
 Air Quality and Low Carbon Vehicle Opportunities
 Commercial Waste

The workstreams will be progressed by:
• Providing advice and support to WMCA activity
• Helping engage with wider stakeholder networks and activity
• Identify and scale up existing good practice within the WMCA area
• Identify and secure resources to deliver new opportunities
• Provide constructive challenge function by feeding into annual independent progress 

reports to the WMCA by Sustainability West Midlands.

Page 78


	Agenda
	4 Minutes - 27 February 2020
	5 WM2041: A Programme for Implementing an Environmental Recovery
	2 B WM2041 Appendix

	6 Energy Transition
	8 WM2041: Introduction to Circular Economy Project
	10 WM2041 - Five Year Plans
	11 Environment Board Terms of Reference
	6 B Terms of Reference Appendix


